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About SaskWater

SaskWater is Saskatchewan’s commercial Crown water 

utility, helping communities, First Nations and industry 

gain access to reliable and professional water and 

wastewater services.

The history of SaskWater goes back to 1966, when we 

began operations as the Saskatchewan Water Supply 

Board. The head office was relocated from Regina to 

Watrous in 1977, and in 1984, the Saskatchewan Water 

Corporation was created with its head office in Moose 

Jaw. All the personnel and property of the former 

Board were transferred to the new corporation. In 2002, 

SaskWater received a new mandate to operate exclusively 

as a commercial water utility.

SaskWater provides professional water and wastewater 

services to 65 communities, nine rural municipalities, 81 

rural pipeline groups, 17 industrial and 242 commercial 

and domestic end-user customers.

In addition, SaskWater remotely monitors facilities for 

five communities and provides operator training to 29 

Saskatchewan First Nations.

SaskWater’s services directly and indirectly reach 

approximately 102,000 people in Saskatchewan.

In order to provide these services, SaskWater owns 

nine water treatment plants, three wastewater 

facilities, 140 kilometres of canal and 964 kilometres 

of pipeline. SaskWater also owns or leases 40 booster 

and pump stations.

Supporting economic growth and the people of 

Saskatchewan has always been at the core of SaskWater’s 

purpose. As Saskatchewan’s communities and industries 

grow with the province’s expanding economy, SaskWater 

works hard to supply its customers with the infrastructure, 

customer service and water resources they need to prosper.
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Corporate Profile

SaskWater is committed to providing the highest level of 

service to its customers. That promise is reflected in the 

corporation’s vision, mission and values.

VISION: We are the best at connecting water for life and 

growth, partnering for a better tomorrow.

MISSION: to provide safe, reliable and sustainable water 

and wastewater services for Saskatchewan.

VALUES:

• INTEGRITY – We act ethically with respect, honesty, 

courtesy and fairness.

• PROFESSIONALISM – We provide quality, expertise and 

excellence in the delivery of our services, and we are 

accountable for our actions.

• TEAMWORK – We promote co-operation and 

commitment to achieve our common goals.

• SAFETY – We are committed to safety in all aspects of 

our operations.

• INNOVATION – We pursue continuous improvement 

and innovative solutions.

• ENVIRONMENT – We respect and support the 

environment and communities where we live and work.

SaskWater has defined four strategic goals to guide the 

corporation: CuStoMer DrIVeN, PurSuING eXCeLLeNCe, 

VALuING eMPLoYeeS and SuCCeeDING FINANCIALLY. Our 

2017–18 Annual Report provides details on how we are 

accomplishing all four goals.

SaskWater’s Value Proposition 

to its Customers

• SaskWater employees hold diverse levels of 

certification for water and wastewater systems, 

allowing for early problem diagnosis and 

troubleshooting.

• SaskWater’s knowledge of Saskatchewan’s regulatory 

requirements and our operational expertise 

allow customers to focus on their core business 

while we ensure permit requirements and quality 

standards are met.

• SaskWater’s remote monitoring system provides 

customers with the safety and security of having 

their facilities monitored 24 hours a day by trained 

operations personnel.

• SaskWater’s engineering team provides flexible 

solutions and project management services to meet 

the unique needs of customers from concept through 

to construction.

• SaskWater has the ability to invest in water and 

wastewater systems and our integrated asset 

management program ensures timely investment 

in existing assets. This allows customers to invest 

their dollars in other areas beneficial to their 

business or community.

• SaskWater provides grant application support, 

enhancing our customers’ ability to access capital 

funding and municipal grants.

• SaskWater utilizes established knowledge and 

innovation exchange networks and is committed to 

adopting innovative ideas and technologies.

• As a provincial Crown utility, SaskWater has strong 

working relationships with regulatory and other 

government agencies, consultants and contractors that 

enable access to best practices.

• SaskWater’s existing, well-maintained infrastructure 

allows for efficient and cost-effective regional solutions.

• SaskWater’s Community Investment program 

supports Saskatchewan communities through 

sponsorships and donations.
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Financial and Operating Highlights

Financial Highlights ($ thousands):

Year Ended 
 March 31 

 2018

Year Ended 
 March 31 

 2017

Total revenue  $ 56,861  $ 53,038

Total expenses   46,708   44,709

Operating income   10,153   8,329

Net finance expense   (2,077)   (1,852)

Net income  $ 8,076  $ 6,477

Other comprehensive income   128   6

Total comprehensive income  $ 8,204  $ 6,483

Unrealized gains (losses) included in net finance amount  $ —  $ (100)

Dividends  $ 2,019  $ 1,646

Debt ratio 46.60% 44.70%

Operating Highlights (cubic metres):

Non-potable water distributed 36,132,353 35,750,599

Potable water distributed 7,497,755 7,147,698
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CurreNt SerVICe IN SASkAtCHeWAN

SaskWater currently owns and/or operates potable, 

non-potable and wastewater infrastructure in the 

following locations/regions:

1 La Ronge Area

2 Pierceland

3 Meota-Cochin-Jackfish Lake Area

4 Kindersley

5 Nipawin

6 Melfort Area

7 Wakaw-Humboldt Area

8 Hanley-Watrous-Lanigan Area

9 Saskatoon Area

10 Elbow

11 Gravelbourg

12 Moose Jaw

13 Buffalo Pound Area

14 White City

15 Edenwold

16 Cupar

17 Fort Qu’Appelle

18 Melville
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Letter of Transmittal

Moose Jaw, June 2018

To His Honour  

The Honourable W. Thomas Molloy, O.C., S.O.M. 

Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan  

Province of Saskatchewan

Dear Sir:

I have the honour to submit herewith the Annual Report 

of the Saskatchewan Water Corporation for the fiscal 

year ending March 31, 2018.

The report includes the financial statements, duly 

certified by auditors for the corporation, in the form 

approved by the Treasury Board and in accordance with 

The Saskatchewan Water Corporation Act.

I have the honour to be your obedient servant.

Sincerely, 

Bronwyn Eyre 

Minister Responsible for 

Saskatchewan Water Corporation

Minister’s Message

I am pleased to be presenting SaskWater’s 2017-18 Annual 

Report. As in past years, SaskWater’s track record lives up 

to the theme of this year’s report – Your Partner in Water. 

SaskWater strives, in collaboration with customers, to 

find innovative and effective solutions for their water and 

wastewater needs. That’s why 2017-18 has been a year 

spent building new relationships, launching important 

projects and delivering crucial infrastructure upgrades. 

Through 2017-18, SaskWater has been committed to the 

Province’s agenda of Keeping Saskatchewan Strong. 

SaskWater has been able to supply safe, reliable and 

sustainable water and wastewater services to its 

customers in a fiscally responsible manner, while making 

connections that have ensured continued growth and 

success for the corporation.

SaskWater’s continued financial success as a provincial 

Crown utility serves to bolster community development 

and a thriving economy in Saskatchewan, and the 

corporation looks forward to contributing to its 

customers’ new endeavours in years to come.

Sincerely, 

Bronwyn Eyre 

Minister Responsible for 

Saskatchewan Water Corporation
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Letter to Stakeholders

SaskWater was diligently building throughout 2017–18. 

Everything – from pipelines and pump stations, to 

customer relationships and internal processes – has 

undergone construction and maintenance as the 

corporation strives toward improved effectiveness 

and sustainable long-term success as a provincial 

Crown utility. 

Two major capital projects in Melville and Elbow were 

at the forefront for SaskWater in 2017–18. Both benefited 

from grant announcements on June 2, 2017, under the 

Clean Water and Wastewater Fund, which supported 

crucial upgrades to the affected systems.

In Melville, two new wells, a well control building 

and roughly 30 kilometres of pipeline were included 

in the scope of the grant project. The pipeline was 

substantially complete in December of 2017, and the 

well control building was near completion by year-

end. Construction of a new water treatment plant 

will be among SaskWater’s major capital projects in 

2018–19 and 2019–20.

On the Elbow water supply system, a new intake, pump 

station and pipeline to the water treatment plant were 

necessary as the existing assets were at the end of their 

useful lives. The new infrastructure was commissioned in 

March of 2018.  

In conjunction with the significant capital upgrades 

and with a focus on ensuring the future financial 

sustainability of the system, SaskWater and its customers 

within the Elbow region negotiated new water supply 

agreements. Talks are ongoing with customers in 

the Melfort and Saskatoon areas to identify their 

future requirements and how to best serve their 

needs going forward.

Solidifying existing partnerships is a priority for 

SaskWater. In 2017–18, SaskWater undertook a series 

of customer engagement meetings. Account managers 

met with their customers to share meaningful 

dialogue regarding their water or wastewater systems’ 

performance, review any significant maintenance 

performed and discuss potential growth needs that may 

require future upgrades.

SaskWater successfully built new partnerships in  

2017–18. The Town of Kindersley was added as a certified 

operation and maintenance (COM) customer, and becomes 

the second-largest COM customer SaskWater has to 

date. The corporation continues to work with other 

stakeholders to examine regional system opportunities, 

identifying and addressing barriers that could impede 

their mutually beneficial outcomes. 

SaskWater also made inroads in 2017-18 with its ROAM 

remote monitoring service, finalizing an agreement 

with the Town of Southey to install remote monitoring 

equipment at its water treatment plant and within a lift 

station. Southey is the first location where SaskWater is 

offering ROAM as a support service for customer-owned-

and-operated facilities. SaskWater has also launched 

a three-site pilot project testing the use of ROAM in 

northern communities. 

Looking forward to new prospects, SaskWater has been 

working with Canada Golden Fortune Potash Corporation 

as they determine the feasibility of building a non-

potable water supply system for a proposed potash 

mine near Broadview. SaskWater has signed a project 

development agreement with the potash corporation 

to provide some preliminary engineering work, an 

environmental assessment and stakeholder consultation. 

In Saskatchewan’s northern communities, SaskWater was 

heavily engaged in project management work through 

2017–18. The corporation’s Northern Engineering unit 

worked on 14 grant-funded projects, managing water 

supply system upgrades on behalf of the Northern 

Municipal Trust Account (NMTA) and the Ministry of 

Government Relations (GR). SaskWater’s extensive 

experience in the province’s north has made the Northern 

Engineering unit a trusted partner for GR and NMTA. 
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In recent years, SaskWater has assisted with preparing 

grant applications on their behalf and is waiting to 

learn the status of 13 additional projects pending 

approval for 2018–19.

2017–18 surpassed expectations for SaskWater on the 

financial front. With $8.2 million in actual earnings 

for the year, revenues were at record levels. These are 

primarily attributed to: the growth of two key industrial 

customers; higher-than-expected municipal water 

consumption connected to dry conditions in 2017; and the 

negotiation of new water supply agreements to improve 

financial sustainability.

SaskWater is actively engaged and committed to its 

corporate social responsibility, as demonstrated by 

its kickoff of a large solar panel installation at the 

Wakaw-Humboldt water treatment plant in March 

of 2018. This innovative power-generating project is 

expected to expand, with two additional phases planned 

for the upcoming year. Beyond this energy-saving 

initiative, SaskWater is proud to have two projects 

under consideration for the federal government’s Low 

Carbon Economy Fund.

In another noteworthy accomplishment of 2017–18, 

SaskWater marked the 40-year milestone of the 

corporation’s role in training First Nations water and 

wastewater operators in Saskatchewan. 

Safety of staff, customers and contractors is a vital 

priority for SaskWater, and the corporation endeavors 

to advance policy that reflects industry best practices. 

Improved technologies for safety reporting have been 

embraced by field staff and work is ongoing to implement 

a working alone policy and emergency alert system to 

ensure staff safety. In addition, SaskWater’s emergency 

response plans were being reviewed in 2017–18, while 

updates to the business continuity plan were completed.

SaskWater also joined the Sask 1st Call service in 2017–18 

to promote accident prevention and safeguard SaskWater 

infrastructure. With a single call, more contractors and 

individuals are easily accessing reliable SaskWater line 

location information prior to starting construction. 

SaskWater used 2017–18 to refresh several internal 

processes, forwarding its goal to find efficiencies and 

advance its Information Technology (IT) strategy. A 

number of procedural changes were identified to help 

serve customers more effectively. An internal corporate 

assessment is ongoing to identify IT solutions to provide 

a more seamless workflow within the corporation. 

This past year also marked the departure of Gary Vidal, 

Chair of SaskWater’s Board of Directors. SaskWater would 

like to extend gratitude and appreciation to Gary for his 

valued and meaningful contributions over his 10 years of 

service to the corporation. 

Looking back on this successful year, it becomes clear 

that SaskWater’s steady momentum is a reflection of 

the corporation’s committed staff and leadership teams. 

Time and again, SaskWater has proven a commitment to 

its strong foundational values: integrity, professionalism, 

teamwork, safety, innovation, and the environment. 

Guided by these principles SaskWater intends to build on 

its reputation of successful water infrastructure projects 

into 2018–19 and beyond.

Silvia Martini 

Chair of the Board

Doug Matthies 

President and CEO
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Management Discussion & Analysis

The following Management Discussion and Analysis 

(MD&A) considers key influences on SaskWater growth 

opportunities, existing business services, key strategies 

going forward, performance measures, 2017–18 financial 

results, the 2018–19 financial outlook, business risks 

and corporate governance. The MD&A should be read in 

conjunction with the audited financial statements for the 

year ending March 31, 2018.

keY INFLueNCeS

SaskWater is a commercial Crown corporation providing 

water utility services. The corporation’s activities are 

confined to the province of Saskatchewan in accordance 

with the government’s SaskFirst Investment Policy.

Water and wastewater services in Saskatchewan are 

typically provided by municipalities that serve not only 

their residents, but also any commercial or industrial 

businesses within their communities. Water infrastructure 

within the province is generally characterized as 

independent systems that are not interconnected.

SaskWater service and its financial success is 

concentrated on a relatively small number of key 

customers. The top 10 non-potable water customers and 

the top 10 potable water customers combined, represent 

approximately 86% of total water delivered and 72% of 

revenue from those two sources.  

The top 10 non-potable customers are all industrial 

businesses, primarily potash mines. As such, revenues 

from these customers are significantly influenced 

by global supply and demand and the price of the 

commodity. SaskWater serves two of the three operating 

solution potash mines in Saskatchewan, including the 

two largest. As the mining companies have adjusted 

to world market conditions, water requirements at 

each individual mine can vary significantly between 

the years. In aggregate, however, consumption rose 

marginally in 2017–18. SaskWater’s financial results for 

2017–18 have benefited from “take or pay” provisions 

in agreements, which is a risk mitigation provision for 

SaskWater. In total, there were 40 occasions where the 

minimum monthly amount of water was not utilized by 

a major industrial customer during the year, triggering 

additional payments. 

Water consumption by municipal customers is relatively 

stable over time, with higher consumption during the 

warmer spring and summer seasons than during fall 

and winter seasons. Hot, dry weather, as experienced in 

2017–18, tends to increase consumption, particularly as it 

relates to lawn and yard maintenance, whereas periods 

of excess rain tend to reduce consumption. Consumption 

is also influenced by population growth. Communities 

near Saskatchewan’s two largest cities, and in particular 

Martensville, Warman and White City, have seen larger 

population growth than other parts of the province. 

These three communities are all SaskWater customers.

SaskWater is working to increase its municipal customer 

base. One of the benefits SaskWater can bring to 

municipal service is an ability to work regionally. The 

company is actively investigating where new regional 

opportunities might exist, considering such key inputs 

as the condition of existing facilities, population and 

proximity to other communities and water sources. 

In addition, SaskWater is also working with other 

government agencies to better understand potential 

barriers to regional infrastructure and how regional 

planning can be further encouraged. The recent addition 

of the Melville service area is an example of regional 

collaboration, as is the refurbishment of the Elbow 

regional water supply system.

SaskWater will continue to offer a range of other 

services, including certified operation and maintenance 

and remote monitoring, as a means of building 

relationships with communities to possibly expand 

services to them in the future.
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SaskWater’s Core Lines of Business

• potable water supply

• non-potable water supply

• wastewater treatment  

and management

• certified operation and 

maintenance (COM)

• project management

• water and wastewater training

• remote monitoring

• leak detection audits

PotAbLe WAter SuPPLY

SaskWater’s potable water supply 

business refers to the delivery of 

water that is suitable for human 

consumption in accordance with 

applicable regulations. Municipalities 

represent the largest consumers 

of potable water. SaskWater also 

delivers potable water to rural 

pipeline groups and businesses.

The majority of SaskWater’s 

municipal customers own and 

operate their local distribution 

systems and manage the relationship 

with their residents. SaskWater 

provides wholesale water delivery 

service to the community, which then 

delivers the service to its residents.

Stand-Alone Systems

SaskWater’s mandate enables the 

corporation to purchase and operate 

municipal water infrastructure or 

to construct new water supply 

and treatment systems. SaskWater 

currently owns and operates stand-

alone systems in White City, Pierceland, 

Edenwold, Gravelbourg and Cupar.

regional Systems

For many rural communities, a 

regional water system is the most 

cost-effective and sustainable 

solution to their water needs.

SaskWater owns and operates the 

Wakaw-Humboldt, Codette Lake, 

Elbow and Melville regional potable 

water systems. These systems consist 

of a single treatment plant that 

produces and distributes potable 

water to surrounding communities 

through a pipeline network. Water 

treatment plants for these regional 

systems are located in Wakaw, 

Melfort, Elbow and Melville. Together, 

these systems supply potable water 

directly to 19 communities and 

several rural pipeline groups.

SaskWater also owns and operates 

two regional potable water systems 

where the water is purchased 

from other suppliers. SaskWater 

purchases potable water from the 

City of Saskatoon and delivers it to 

surrounding communities, industries, 

other commercial businesses, and 

rural pipeline groups through 

an extensive pipeline network. 

SaskWater also purchases potable 

water from the Buffalo Pound Water 

Administration Board, the City 

of Regina and the City of Moose 

Jaw, sourced from the Buffalo 

Pound Water Treatment Plant, and 

delivers it to customers in the 

surrounding areas.

In 2017–18, SaskWater delivered 

7.5 billion litres of high-quality 

drinking water.
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NoN-PotAbLe WAter SuPPLY

SaskWater’s non-potable water 

supply business refers to the delivery 

of water that is not suitable for 

human consumption in accordance 

with applicable regulations.

The majority of SaskWater’s non-

potable water supply is delivered in 

large volumes to industrial customers 

for processing and manufacturing 

operations, including potash mines 

and fertilizer manufacturers.

Municipal customers also purchase 

non-potable water from SaskWater. 

These customers own water treatment  

facilities and perform their own 

treatment processes prior to 

residential delivery.

SaskWater owns and operates non-

potable water systems in the areas 

surrounding Saskatoon, Buffalo 

Pound Lake and along the Saskatoon 

Southeast Water Supply system.

In 2017–18, SaskWater delivered  

36.1  billion litres of non-potable water.

WASteWAter treAtMeNt 

AND MANAGeMeNt

A long-standing issue in wastewater 

management is the need for 

environmentally sustainable 

wastewater treatment and disposal 

solutions. SaskWater provides 

solutions ranging from simple 

lagoon-based treatment to complex 

mechanical and/or chemically-aided 

treatment systems.

An example of an environmentally 

sustainable wastewater disposal 

method is effluent irrigation onto a 

woodlot. SaskWater’s research in this 

field has led to the development of 

an effluent disposal process involving 

a woodlot with zero discharge to 

the environment.

SaskWater owns and operates 

wastewater facilities in Nipawin, 

Pierceland and Fort Qu’Appelle. 

The Pierceland facility is a stand-

alone system. The Nipawin and Fort 

Qu’Appelle facilities are regional 

wastewater systems serving 

multiple customers either through 

force mains or dump stations for 

commercial truck haulers.

In 2017–18, SaskWater received and 

treated 1.1  billion litres of wastewater.

CertIFIeD oPerAtIoN  

AND MAINteNANCe (CoM)

SaskWater contracts with 15 

communities and rural pipeline 

groups to provide certified operation 

and maintenance of their water and 

wastewater systems, including:

• non-potable water supply

• water and wastewater 

treatment plants

• treated water storage facilities

• distribution systems

• wastewater collection  

and disposal

The above services are supervised or 

performed by certified operators.

COM also provides regulatory 

reporting and consultation, 

emergency planning, remote 

monitoring and customer 

support services.

SaskWater is able to offer the 

services of its qualified certified 

operators to communities and rural 

pipeline groups located near our 

existing operating centres.
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Melfort Area
Potable Water Supply System

Wakaw–Humboldt Area
Potable Water Supply System

 1. St. Louis
 2. Hoey
 3. St. Isidore-de-Bellevue
 4. Domremy
 5. Wakaw
 6. One Arrow First Nation
 7. Cudworth

 1. Weldon
 2. Kinistino
 3. Beatty
 4. Melfort
 5. Star City
 6. Star City Farming
 7. Melfort Rural Pipeline Association

Codette Lake
Pump Station

SaskWater
Treatment
Plant

Saskatchewan River

Carrot River

River Pump
Station

SaskWater
Treatment
Plant

South
Saskatchewan
River

 8. Bruno
 9. Humboldt
 10. Muenster
 11. Annaheim
 12. Lake Lenore
 13. SHL Pipeline Association
 14. North Central Rural Pipeline Association

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

11
13

14

14

12

10

Saskatoon Area
Potable Water Supply System

 1. Hepburn
 2. Hague
 3. Osler
 4. Dalmeny
 5. Aberdeen
 6. Warman
 7. Martensville
 8. ERCO Worldwide

City of SaskatoonCity of Saskatoon

1 2

34
5

7

7

6
7

8
9

11

12 13
14

15 16

17

22 25

27

26

26 28

24

23

18

19

20

21

10

 9. BizHub Developments Ltd.
 10. Akzo Chemicals
 11. Sloboshan Ent. Ltd.
 12. Prairie Pride Chick Sales Ltd.
 13. Chemtrade West
 14. Sunset Estates
 15. Grasswood
 16. Cargill Ltd.
 17. Casa Rio/Wood Meadow
 18. Clavet

 19. Bradwell
 20. Elstow
 21. Allan
 22. Dundurn Rural Water Utility
 23. Highway 41 Rural Water Utility
 24. Yellowhead Industrial Park
 25. Allan South Rural Water Utility
 26. Intervalley Inc.
 27. Lost River Water Co.
 28. Sask Valley Rural Water Utility

Buffalo Pound Area
Potable Water Supply System

 1. Bethune
 2. Arm River Farming
 3. Buffalo Plains Cattle Company
 4. Disley
 5. K+S Potash Canada
 6. Marquis

Buffalo
Pound Lake

Qu’Appelle
River

City of Regina
Water Line

Buffalo Pound
Water Treatment Plant
Buffalo Pound
Water Treatment Plant

City of
Moose Jaw

City of Regina

1
2

3 4

56

7

8 9 10

12

11

 7. Tuxford
 8. Yara Belle Plaine Inc.
 9. K+S Windsor Salt Ltd.
 10. Grand Coulee
 11. Caron/Mortlach Regional Public 
  Utility Board
 12. Dufferin
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Saskatoon Southeast
Non-potable Water Supply System

Buffalo Pound Area
Non-potable Water Supply System

 1. Broderick
 2. PCS Allan
 3. Mosaic Potash Colonsay ULC
 4. Viscount

 5. PCS Lanigan
 6. Guernsey
 7. Lanigan
 8. BHP Jansen
 9. Shields

Gardiner Dam
    East Side Pump Station

City of Moose Jaw

Mosaic & Yara
Pump Stations

K+S Pump Station

Qu’Appelle
River

Wascana Creek

Buffalo
Pound Lake

Moose Jaw River

South
Saskatchewan
River

Bradwell
Reservoir

Broderick
Reservoir

Blackstrap
Lake Zelma

Reservoir

Dellwood
Reservoir

Brightwater
Reservoir

 1. K+S Potash Canada
 2. Terra Grain Fuels Inc.
 3. Temple Gardens Mineral Spa
 4. Yara Belle Plaine Inc.
 5. Mosaic Potash Belle Plaine
 6. Waldorf Ranch

4 5

6

1

2

Saskatoon Area
Non-potable Water Supply System

 1. Agrium Potash
 2. Vanscoy
 3. PCS Cory and SPI/ATCO
 4. Cedar Villa

 5. Golf Courses
(WGCC/SGCC/Greenbryre)

 6. Cargill

Saskatoon River
Pump Station

Queen Elizabeth
Pump Station

City of
Saskatoon

5 6

Regina East
Pump Station

SaskWater
Treatment Plant

SaskWater
Treatment Plant

SaskWater
Treatment Plant

Regina East
Potable Water Supply System

Qu’Appelle
River

Wascana Creek

City of Regina

 1. White City
 2. Edenwold
 3. Cupar

8

9
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ProJeCt MANAGeMeNt

SaskWater provides project 

management services for customers 

to plan and manage the design 

and construction of water and 

wastewater infrastructure projects.

In 2017–18, SaskWater’s project 

management activities focused 

primarily on upgrades to the Zelma 

Reservoir dam. This work was led 

by the Water Security Agency and 

was related to the Zelma East Water 

Supply System project for BHP 

Jansen. SaskWater also continued 

to support the potash industry 

as companies investigated water 

supplies for potential new mines.

SaskWater also plans and manages 

the design and construction of water 

and wastewater infrastructure in 

northern Saskatchewan on behalf 

of the Ministry of Government 

Relations. From its Prince Albert 

office, SaskWater provides ongoing 

technical advice to northern 

communities and First Nations for 

maintenance and expansion of their 

water and wastewater infrastructure, 

including responding to community 

emergencies related to that 

infrastructure.

WAter AND WASteWAter trAINING

SaskWater works on behalf of 

Indigenous Services Canada to 

provide operations training to 

Saskatchewan First Nations. In 

2017–18, SaskWater trained 70  

water and wastewater operators  

at 29 First Nations.

The goal of SaskWater’s training 

program is to assist in providing a 

safe water supply to residents and 

to safeguard their valuable water 

and wastewater infrastructure 

investment. The program began 

in 1978, and has evolved over the 

years to suit the specific water 

and wastewater operational needs 

of First Nations communities as 

they adapt to frequently changing 

technology and increasingly stringent 

regulatory requirements.

Benefits to First Nations 

communities include:

• enhanced quality of water  

and wastewater operation

• emergency technical 

assistance as required

• limited service disruptions 

and threats to public water 

quality and supply

• progressive operator development, 

including certification 

tutorial support

• annual water consumption 

records collection and reporting, 

representation at project 

management team meetings on 

behalf of First Nations receiving 

new facilities or significant 

facility upgrades and, upon 

request, participation in relevant 

stakeholder meetings



15

roAM reMote MoNItorING

ROAM – Remote Oversight and 

Monitoring – provides continuous 

monitoring of water and wastewater 

facilities for customers who wish to 

retain both ownership and operation 

of their systems.

Partnering with TransGas (a subsidiary  

of SaskEnergy), SaskWater currently 

uses a Supervisory Control and 

Data Acquisition (SCADA) system 

to remotely monitor 55 SaskWater 

and customer owned facilities 

across the province 24 hours a day, 

365 days a year.

ROAM employs certified operators 

who can monitor water treatment 

plants, wastewater treatment plants 

and distribution systems. On its own 

facilities, remote monitoring helps 

SaskWater increase safety, improve 

service, enhance water quality 

monitoring and reduce costs.

The benefits for the customer include 

providing a higher level of service 

to residents and customers through 

constant monitoring and the ability 

to respond proactively to plant 

fluctuations and troubleshooting, 

potentially saving time and money.

LeAk DeteCtIoN AuDItS

SaskWater provides leak detection 

audits using noise correlator 

technology to detect subsurface 

water leaks on distribution systems. 

Our team of highly qualified 

professionals is trained and equipped 

to support our customers with 

this industry best practice for 

maintenance and asset management.

This service strengthens SaskWater’s 

commitment to provide safe, quality 

water to Saskatchewan communities 

as leaks of any size can damage 

infrastructure, contaminate a water 

supply, deprive a community of 

considerable revenue and waste a 

valuable natural resource.
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Strategic Plan and Balanced Scorecard

SaskWater’s strategic plan outlines the roadmap to 

achieving the corporation’s long-term vision, and is 

founded on its mission, values and corporate goals. The 

vision describes where the corporation wants to be 

in the future, the mission highlights the corporation’s 

unique purpose and why it exists, and the values are the 

principles that guide the behaviour of all employees.

The corporation’s goals guide SaskWater toward achieving 

its vision and mission, and provide the foundation for 

corporate and employee performance. These goals include 

Customer Driven, Pursuing Excellence, Valuing Employees 

and Succeeding Financially. The Board of Directors 

reviews the strategic plan on an annual basis, and for 

the 2017–18 year confirmed the corporation’s direction as 

originally established in 2015.

Central to the strategic plan are SaskWater’s customers. 

The goal of Customer Driven promises that SaskWater 

will provide excellent, high-quality customer service to 

existing and future customers. SaskWater’s relationship 

with its customers is a partnership, where SaskWater 

works with customers to meet their needs. While this 

goal specifically focuses on the customer, all other 

goals require an emphasis on improving the service and 

relationship with customers.

Through Pursuing Excellence, SaskWater will deliver 

efficient and effective services in a socially and 

environmentally responsible manner.

The Valuing Employees goal speaks to the importance of 

providing a safe, supportive and rewarding workplace for 

employees so that they can excel at their work.

By addressing the first three goals, SaskWater will 

achieve the Succeeding Financially goal to increase 

shareholder value by maintaining the financial 

sustainability of the corporation. Each goal is supported 

by key strategic objectives that describe the areas of 

focus for the next few years.

SaskWater measures its progress on its strategic goals 

and objectives through the Performance Management 

Program and uses a Balanced Scorecard to report 

results. The corporate balanced scorecard identifies 

challenging targets that are to be achieved through 

the implementation of short and long-term plans. 

Performance results are reported to CIC quarterly, 

and SaskWater is accountable to the shareholder for 

meeting its targets.

Each of the following four sections discusses one of 

SaskWater’s corporate goals and outlines the balanced 

scorecard targets and results as well as corporate 

initiatives that support SaskWater’s strategic direction.
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Objectives Balanced Scorecard Measures

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Vision

We are the best at connecting 
water for life and growth, 
partnering for a better 
tomorrow

Mission

To provide safe, reliable and 
sustainable water and 
wastewater services 
for Saskatchewan

Values

Integrity 
Professionalism
Teamwork
Safety
Innovation
Environment

Strategic Focus

Growth, Diversification 
and Competitiveness

Identify targeted growth opportunities and service offerings

% Investment in New Growth

% Municipal Revenue Growth

% Industry Served by SaskWater

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Turnaround Timelines for Request for Service (RFS)

System Reliability Index

Asset Renewal and Replacement

Water Quality Index

Corporate Operating Ratio

Corporate Productivity per Full-time Equivalent (FTE)

Employee Engagement Survey

Retention Rate

Total Recordable Injury Rate (TRIR)

Lost Time Injury Severity Rate (LTIS)

Debt to Debt and Equity

Return on Equity

Net Income

Improve our timeliness and responsiveness to service 
requests

Ensure that our infrastructure is safe, reliable and efficient

Continue to provide safe and reliable water that meets or 
exceeds regulatory requirements

Identify and implement efficient and effective business and 
operational processes

Create a challenging and rewarding workplace

Recruit and retain qualified people

Provide a workplace that promotes safety and employee 
health and well-being

Operate within debt ratio approved by shareholder

Achieve return on equity targets approved by shareholder
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KEY STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

IDENTIFY TARGETED GROWTH 
OPPORTUNITIES AND 
SERVICE OFFERINGS

IMPROVE OUR TIMELINESS 
AND RESPONSIVENESS TO 
SERVICE REQUESTS

“We are committed to providing exceptional 

and innovative service to ensure high 

customer satisfaction. We will demonstrate 

that we are trustworthy, we care 

and we deliver.”
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Town of Kindersley Signs on as Newest SaskWater Certified Operation  

and Maintenance Customer

SaskWater’s Certified Operation and 

Maintenance (COM) customer list 

grew in 2017–18 with the significant 

addition of the Town of Kindersley.

Kim Vogel, Kindersley Director of 

Transportation and Environmental 

Services, said it was SaskWater’s 

“great reputation when it comes to 

water” that prompted the town’s 

request for service in August of 2016.

On February 1, 2018, SaskWater took 

over operations of the Kindersley 

water treatment plant, their CN 

Pump Station and Reservoir, and the 

town’s water tower.

“We are ensured that we have 

qualified, experienced and 

professional staff treating our 

drinking water and maintaining our 

water plant,” Vogel noted. “Safe 

drinking water is a priority, and 

with SaskWater working with us, 

we feel at ease.”

SaskWater Business Development 

Account Manager Brad Dunlop said 

the town had recently invested over 

$20 million to update the potable 

water supply system when it initially 

reached out to SaskWater.

“Given the level of expertise and 

experience our team has to offer, 

Kindersley recognized the value 

SaskWater could bring to their 

system,” Dunlop explained.

“They provide 24/7 monitoring and 

access to other certified operators, 

as well as design and construction 

engineers,” Vogel agreed. “This gives 

us added peace of mind.”

A five-year COM agreement was 

reached in late 2017, and SaskWater 

began implementing a transition plan 

in January 2018.

“In anticipation of bringing on 

new Kindersley operations staff, 

we secured the support of key 

operations personnel and began 

training on the treatment system,” 

stated SaskWater District Operations 

Manager Mark Keller.

“We’ve already encountered a 

number of things that we have been 

able to improve upon operationally, 

particularly in the clarification and 

filtration areas.”

Since taking over the facility’s day-to-

day functions, SaskWater staff have 

been able to help Kindersley achieve 

operational efficiencies related to 

the clarifier stage of the process, 

continuously running one unit as 

opposed to starting and stopping 

both units every two to four hours.

Adjustments have been made to the 

filters’ modes of operation, resulting 

in a more effective cleaning process, 

longer runtimes, and reduced future 

filter maintenance costs.

Changes have also been made to the 

chemical delivery methods and order 

frequencies, which have resulted in 

reduced shipping costs.

In addition, programming mode 

changes are planned for the CN Pump 

Station and Reservoir, which are 

anticipated to generate an estimated 

annual savings of $20,000. Ongoing 

process and procedural adjustments 

are expected to result in further 

savings to the bottom line.

Kindersley is now one of SaskWater’s 

largest COM customers in terms of 

revenue, second only to La  Ronge. 

SaskWater is optimistic that its new 

relationship with Kindersley will 

provide further inroads into the 

western portion of the province, where 

Business Development continues to 

investigate potential opportunities.
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“Safe drinking water is a 

priority, and with SaskWater 

working with us, we feel at ease.”
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SaskWater ROAM Service Finding Success in Town of Southey

SaskWater’s work with the Town of 

Southey in 2017–18 is leading the way 

in the implementation of SaskWater’s 

newly launched ROAM remote 

monitoring service.

“The Town of Southey is happy 

that the water is being monitored 

24-hours-a-day,” said Tristian Mohr, 

Town Foreman in Southey. “This, in 

itself, is a benefit to our residents.”

ROAM provides year-round, 

continuous remote monitoring of 

water and wastewater facilities by 

certified operators. While remote 

monitoring is typically utilized within 

SaskWater-owned and/or operated 

facilities, Southey is the first location 

where SaskWater is offering ROAM 

remote monitoring as a support 

service for customer-owned-and-

operated facilities.

Southey had initially contacted 

SaskWater hoping to address 

recurring communication issues 

between its ground water well and 

water treatment plant. As SaskWater 

developed a relationship with the 

town, its representatives began to 

identify other needs that could be 

addressed through ROAM.

“We had concerns on the reliability 

of our system,” explained Ferne 

Senft, Town Administrator. “When 

we contacted SaskWater about the 

ROAM service, we felt confident 

that the service they were going to 

supply to us would be reliable and 

very efficient.”

According to Senft, SaskWater has 

delivered. The ROAM system has 

not failed since its installation in 

the summer of 2017, and any minor 

trouble-shooting has been resolved 

with a quick phone call.

ROAM can be tailored to monitor 

many different aspects of the 

treatment process in a way that fits 

the specific needs of a particular 

system. For example, one customer 

may choose to monitor chlorine 

residual levels, while another may 

be interested in adding turbidity or 

pressure monitoring.

In Southey, SaskWater is currently 

using ROAM to monitor seven 

parameters, two at the water 

treatment plant, and five in 

the lift station.

“The town is quite happy with the 

service. It gives them peace of mind 

that the plant is being monitored at 

all times,” said Nish Prasad, Business 

Development Account Manager at 

SaskWater. “Given the communication 

challenges they experienced in the 

past, this is particularly reassuring.”

In addition to monitoring treatment 

parameters, ROAM can flag concerns 

such as signal loss, power outages 

or pressure changes in a system 

that could be cause for concern. 

This means repairs can be addressed 

more rapidly, and operators can 

sometimes prevent issues with 

a proactive fix.

“We have found that the ROAM 

service has given the town foreman 

less stress and requires very low 

maintenance,” Ferne said.

The three-year service agreement 

between SaskWater and the Town of 

Southey was signed on May 26, 2017, 

and the official start of Southey’s 

ROAM service was September 1, 2017.

“The agreement with Southey 

was an important first step in 

establishing our ROAM service as an 

independent line of business,” said 

Randy Avery, Director of Business 

Development at SaskWater.

“Remote monitoring provides ongoing 

reassurance that a community’s 

water infrastructure is reliable and 

safe,” he added. “We look forward 

to bringing that peace of mind to 

more municipalities, and we are 

very optimistic about the prospect 

of ROAM projects unfolding with a 

number of northern communities and 

First Nations in the province.”

“When we contacted SaskWater about the ROAM service, 

we felt confident that the service they were going to 

supply to us would be reliable and very efficient.”
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Northern Engineering Unit Tackles Multiple Grant Projects

SaskWater’s Northern Engineering unit has been a hub of 

activity in 2017–18.

In the past year, the unit provided project management 

services for 14 grant-funded projects in the Northern 

Administration District (NAD), which represents 35 

northern communities.

“The communities are fortunate to have received federal 

and provincial grant dollars for their projects,” noted 

Kevin Cudmore, Manager, Northern Engineering. “Without 

the funding, the projects would likely not proceed.”

Based out of Prince Albert, SaskWater’s Northern 

Engineering unit provides project management services 

and ongoing technical advice to northern communities 

on the operation and maintenance of their water and 

wastewater infrastructure. The unit also assists the 

communities in responding to emergencies related to that 

infrastructure. The bulk of the unit’s work is completed 

under contract with the Northern Municipal Trust Account 

(NMTA) and the Ministry of Government Relations (GR).

As part of its regular work for the NMTA and GR, 

SaskWater’s Northern Engineering unit manages the 

preparation of the waterworks and sewage works system 

assessments in northern communities. That, along with 

providing day-to-day technical assistance, gives the staff 

a unique perspective on the state of the infrastructure 

in those communities. SaskWater, with input from the 

communities, assesses the priority of the water and 

wastewater projects, makes recommendations, and 

submits grant applications on their behalf.

“We’ve been successful at capturing grant funding for 

communities with each intake of the New Building 

Canada Fund and the Clean Water and Wastewater 

funding programs,” said Cudmore, noting the unit 

currently has grant applications pending for another 13 

projects. “There is a need in the northern communities 

for water and wastewater upgrades, which is evident by 

the number of project funding applications.”

Cudmore said the key to their success in securing project 

funding boils down to SaskWater’s industry experience, 

and a long track record of delivering successful 

projects in the North.

“Clearly defining the scope of each project is vital to 

capturing grant dollars. That comes with experience – 

the experience of our staff, and the experience of our 

consultants,” he said. “We develop the project business 

case to demonstrate to the grant committees that 

the need exists.”

The volume of water and wastewater projects in northern 

Saskatchewan is certainly elevated recently and Cudmore 

attributes the increase to availability of grant funding 

and changes in regulatory requirements. Primarily, the 

projects have focused on water system improvements; 

however, more wastewater projects are coming 

to the forefront.

The grant projects managed by SaskWater’s Northern 

Engineering unit in 2017–18 include: water treatment plant 

upgrades in Beauval, Dore Lake, Ile a la Crosse, Pinehouse, 

and Stony Rapids; sewage pump station upgrades in 

Green Lake, Ile a la Crosse, Pinehouse, and La Loche; a 

reservoir expansion, also in La Loche; non-potable water 

supply upgrades in Michel Village and Creighton; and 

water and sewer main replacements in Creighton.

In La Ronge and Air Ronge, SaskWater’s Glen Gillis 

oversaw the installation of permanent standby power 

generators for 11 sewage pump stations, two remote 

booster stations, the sewage treatment plant, as well 

as two portable generators to service seven additional 

sewage pump stations. The project was designed to 

address problematic power outages in the region and 

was awarded a 2017 Association of Consulting Engineering 

Companies Saskatchewan Award of Merit.

“Clearly defining the scope of each project 

is vital to capturing grant dollars. That 

comes with experience.”
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Initiatives

SaskWater’s corporate social 

responsibility and sustainability 

initiatives are guided by the 

Corporate Social Responsibility and 

Sustainability Principles policy that 

our Board of Directors approved 

in 2013. Customer Driven activities 

include community consultations and 

our Community Investment program.

CoMMuNItY CoNSuLtAtIoNS

SaskWater conducts community 

consultations to provide a forum for 

communities and individuals to learn 

and ask questions about SaskWater 

projects that may impact them. 

During 2017–18, community open 

houses and information meetings 

took place in Melville and Elbow 

regarding infrastructure upgrades 

on those systems. (See stories on 

the Melville and Elbow projects on 

pages 30 and 32.)

SaskWater delivered customer 

engagement sessions to five 

customer groups in 2017–18. 

Presentations were done for the 

towns of Cupar, White City and 

Gravelbourg, as well as customers 

in the Buffalo Pound and Wakaw-

Humboldt service areas. The 

customer engagement process 

gives municipal representatives 

the opportunity to ask questions 

about the services they receive from 

SaskWater, and any capital projects 

that may impact them.

CoMMuNItY INVeStMeNt

As one of Saskatchewan’s commercial 

Crown corporations, we embrace 

our social responsibility to make a 

positive contribution each year to 

Saskatchewan communities. In  

2017–18 we sponsored and/or 

provided promotional items to 88 

events in 42 communities.

Two of our strategic areas for 

community investment are 

environment/sustainability and 

First Nations/diversity. In 2017–18, 

we provided support to events and 

organizations including:

• the Saskatchewan Prairie 

Conservation Action Plan

• the Sask A.G. Bell Association for 

the Deaf and Hard of Hearing

• the Wildlife Rehabilitation Society 

of Saskatchewan

• the Frontier College Indigenous 

Summer Literacy Camps

• the Sakicawasihk Pow Wow

• the 2017 Special Olympics 

Saskatchewan Summer Games

Supporting the communities we 

serve is important to SaskWater, 

and in 2017–18 we continued to 

provide sponsorships to several 

of our customer communities 

through a wide range of 

opportunities including:

• the Town of Wakaw’s splash 

park fundraising campaign, a 

playground fundraiser in the 

Town of Humboldt, the Town 

of Cupar’s efforts to replace 

their community ball diamonds 

and the Town of Gravelbourg’s 

fundraising initiative to build a 

skateboard and bike park

• events such as fundraiser dinners, 

rodeos, golf tournaments, fish and 

boat derbies and music jamborees

SaskWater is also committed to 

using our Community Investment 

program to offer educational 

experiences to students in our 

customer communities. Some of 

the ways we accomplished this in 

2017–18 included:

• using the benefits of our 

Saskatchewan Science Centre 

corporate membership to send 

students to the Science Centre

• providing support for the  

Regina Regional Science Fair

• sponsoring team entry fees for 

the First LEGO League Provincial 

Tournament with the theme 

of hydrodynamics
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SaskWater understands that growth as an organization is 

directly linked to high-quality customer service and the 

ability to identify and surpass customer expectations. 

SaskWater has promoted its Customer Driven objective  

by identifying measures that facilitate growth opportunities  

and service offerings, as well as measuring SaskWater’s 

timeliness and responsiveness to service requests. Each 

measure is aligned with the appropriate strategic objective.  

The % Investment in New Growth measure demonstrates 

growth by taking the net capital expenditures and 

dividing it against SaskWater’s property, plant and 

equipment value for 2015–16. These projects include 

new customers looking for water and current customers 

whose communities/businesses are growing or need 

additional water services. SaskWater did not meet 

this target as a large portion of the capital budget 

for new project growth was no longer needed due to 

SaskWater securing a grant for one of its projects, thus 

lowering its investment requirement. This measure will 

Strategic Objective Measure
2017–18 
Target

2017–18 
Result

Indicator 
Light

2018–19 
Target

2019–20 
Target

2020–21 
Target

2021–22 
Target

2022–23 
Target

Identify targeted  
growth opportunities 
and service offerings

1 % Investment  
in New Growth

10% 6.8% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

2 % Municipal  
Revenue Growth

32% 35.5% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

3 % Industry Served  
by SaskWater

36.7% 33.1% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Improve our timeliness 
and responsiveness to 
service requests

4 Customer  
Satisfaction Survey

N/A N/A N/A 8.50 N/A 8.50 N/A

5 Turnaround Timelines for Request for Service

Non-Complex 89 N/A 85 80 76 72 72

Medium Complex 163 73 155 147 140 140 140

Highly Complex 211 N/A 200 190 182 182 182

COM 63 27 56 49 42 42 42

Legend

Exceeded target by 20% or greater

On target

Slightly off target by up to 20%

Off target by greater than 20%

Target information not available

Balanced Scorecard
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not be included in the 2018–19 balanced scorecard as 

results of the measure can be impacted by external 

events (grant funding) that do not provide an accurate 

representation of SaskWater’s growth efforts. Growth 

measures will be introduced for 2018–19, which will 

focus on measuring capital commitment to new projects 

instead of calculating the amount of capital spent on 

projects annually. This will present a clearer picture of 

SaskWater’s projected growth as a company.

The % Municipal Revenue Growth measures new 

revenue growth for the potable, certified operation and 

maintenance (COM) and wastewater lines of business that 

is generated by new and/or existing municipal customers. 

SaskWater met its % Municipal Revenue Growth 2017–18 

target through customer growth and increased water 

consumption due to drier summer conditions. For reasons 

similarly mentioned in the % Investment in New Growth 

measure, SaskWater will be discontinuing this measure 

for the upcoming year, and replacing it with other 

measures that will better demonstrate SaskWater’s goals 

regarding customer growth. 

The % Industry Served by SaskWater represents 

SaskWater’s market share in targeted industrial water 

services for potable and non-potable water. SaskWater 

met its target for this measure in 2017–18. This measure 

will also be discontinued in the upcoming year and will 

be replaced by new growth measures as outlined above.

SaskWater was not scheduled to conduct the biennial 

Customer Satisfaction Survey in 2017–18. SaskWater 

alternates the customer satisfaction survey and employee 

engagement survey. The employee engagement survey 

was deferred to 2018–19 in order to meet cost restraint 

requirements; therefore, the next customer satisfaction 

survey will be conducted in 2019–20 and is targeted to 

achieve an 8.50 satisfaction rating out of 10.00.

SaskWater has prioritized improving response times 

to customer requests for service. For the Turnaround 

Timelines for Request for Service measure, SaskWater 

tracks the average number of calendar days it takes to 

respond to different types of projects against established  

timeline targets for completion. Projects are categorized as: 

• non-complex

• medium complex

• highly complex

• COM

SaskWater’s goal is to improve response times for each 

category by 30% from 2014 to 2021. Timelines are initiated 

the day a customer submits a completed Request for 

Service and are concluded when a conceptual solution 

is provided to the customer by SaskWater. In 2017–18, 

SaskWater received five requests for service, including 

two medium complex and three COM requests. SaskWater 

completed all requests prior to their respective deadlines. 

The measure will change slightly next year with the 

addition of timelines for the Remote Oversight and 

Monitoring (ROAM) line of business. The measure will also 

no longer track average days of completion, but rather a 

percentage of time that turnaround targets are met. 
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KEY STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

ENSURE THAT OUR INFRASTRUCTURE 
IS SAFE, RELIABLE AND EFFICIENT

CONTINUE TO PROVIDE 
SAFE AND RELIABLE WATER 
THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

IDENTIFY AND IMPLEMENT EFFICIENT 
AND EFFECTIVE BUSINESS AND 
OPERATIONAL PROCESSES

“We will be recognized as a leader in 

operations and regional systems by 

delivering safe and reliable water 

and wastewater services and providing 

innovative solutions to improve the 

efficiency, effectiveness and long-term 

sustainability of our business and systems.”
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Water Treatment Plant Construction Just Around the Corner in Melville

With a little innovation and some 

government grant funding in 2017–18, 

SaskWater made substantial progress 

on the Melville water supply system in 

preparation for Melville’s new water 

treatment plant (WTP).

“The well control building has been put 

up, the electrical power’s been brought 

to the building, the pumps have been 

put in the wells and the pipeline is 

fully installed,” explained Tim Jansen, 

Major Projects Engineer at SaskWater. 

He added that the excavation has 

been done to accommodate non-

potable water reservoirs below the 

future WTP site and an existing 

wastewater pipe has been rerouted 

to allow for construction. It’s 

just a matter of pouring concrete 

and the WTP construction will be 

officially underway.

“This time next year, we should have 

the superstructure built, have the 

various mechanical components moved 

in, and be starting to put everything 

together,” Jansen predicted.

Melville Mayor Walter Streelasky has 

anticipated the construction of the 

water treatment plant in his city with 

great enthusiasm and is pleased with 

the progress of the project to date.

“The City of Melville and SaskWater 

have entered into a regional joint 

agreement that will serve Melville and 

district with abundant quality water 

well into the future,” he said. “Our 

working relationship with SaskWater 

has been focused, seamless and 

most cordial. The support and stellar 

guidance provided by the staff of 

SaskWater is truly appreciated.”

The grant-funded portion of the project 

included the construction of two new 

wells, a well control building and the 

installation of a 30-kilometre pipeline 

that will move non-potable water from 

the wells to the city’s new WTP. The 

pipeline work began in August and was 

completed in mid-December of 2017.

“The pipeline installation went 

exceptionally well. It was phenomenal,” 

Jansen said, noting the contractor 

employed an innovative approach 

that allowed for the installation of 

more than 300 metres of pipe per day 

with a single crew.

The process included fusing the 

pipeline sections together, then 

digging a narrow trench just wider 

than the pipe itself. Jansen explained 

that the contractor custom-built a 

boot, or a large box-like steel structure, 

that was dropped into, then pulled 

along the trench to prevent the walls 

from falling in.

It’s an approach that’s previously been 

done with smaller pipe, but it was 

the first time Jansen had ever seen it 

accomplished with the 400-millimetre 

diameter pipe that was used for 

Melville. A more traditional approach 

would have required digging a wider 

trench and having a second crew 

helping to place the pipe at its base.

“The contractor completed the work 

in a more effective fashion and the 

work was done more quickly than was 

anticipated,” Jansen said, adding that, 

thanks to some drier weather near the 

end of 2017, the crew was able to use a 

straighter pipeline route through what 

was expected to be swampy land. They 

were able to shorten the pipeline by 

roughly one kilometre.

Through the Clean Water and 

Wastewater Fund, the Government 

of Canada is contributing up to 

$6.8  million and the provincial 

government, through the Ministry of 

Government Relations, is contributing 

up to $3.4  million toward the non-

potable pipeline and well building 

portion of the project.

While the work was substantially done 

by the March 30, 2018 grant deadline, 

a deadline extension was granted 

to allow for some of the pipeline 

swabbing and pressure testing to 

occur in more favourable weather. 

The underground piping will soon be 

installed to bring the water from the 

well pump to the well building, which 

is still awaiting installation of electrical 

and mechanical components. Once 

the line has been cleaned and tested, 

the final step will be the connection 

to the new WTP.

Construction of the WTP is expected 

to be completed by the end of 2019, 

with cleanup and decommissioning of 

the existing water treatment plant to 

be done in 2020.
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 “Our working relationship with 

SaskWater has been focused, 

seamless and most cordial. The 

support and stellar guidance 

provided by the staff of SaskWater  

is truly appreciated.”



32 PurSuING eXCeLLeNCe

Elbow Upgrade Project Gets Leg Up from Grant Funding

Some essential updates to the water 

supply system in Elbow received a 

grant-funded boost in 2017–18.

Provincial and federal grant 

funding was approved at a total 

of $1.46  million to offset the costs 

of the $2.5  million project, which 

encompassed a new intake, pump 

station, and pipeline to the water 

treatment plant. The funding was 

provided through the Clean Water 

and Wastewater Fund.

SaskWater took ownership of the 

Elbow system in 2005. The system 

was originally designed with a 

single intake that dated back to 

1966. Despite extensions being 

added over the years, the intake 

remained at a depth where it was 

plagued with silting problems and 

threatened by winter ice.

“The infrastructure was at the end 

of its life expectancy,” said Brad 

Dunlop, SaskWater Account Manager 

for the system. “This is essentially 

a whole new water supply system. 

The new pump station provides dual 

intakes, so we have redundancies to 

prevent service interruptions.”

He said that beyond the peace 

of mind and longevity the new 

infrastructure offers, the project’s 

design will address some logistical 

concerns that existed at the site. 

For example, due to the pump 

station’s previous location, certain 

pump maintenance activities 

required equipment that would 

cross and block access to a busy 

campground. There was also concern 

over the previous pipeline’s route, 

as it ran directly below land the 

village had approved for subdivision 

development. The new route follows 

roadways to provide easier repair 

access to the pipeline, and the new 

pump station position means any 

pump maintenance can be done 

adjacent to the road.

The four-metre by four-metre pump 

station is designed as a two-level 

structure, with a concrete vault 

built below ground to contain 

the mechanical equipment and 

a ground-level area housing the 

electrical equipment.

The two 400-millimetre intake 

pipes have Department of Fisheries 

approved fish screens and are 

connected into the vault level of the 

pump station. From there, they run 

into Lake Diefenbaker, some distance 

away from the shallow Tuft’s Bay the 

previous intake drew from. 

“We’re going to have far fewer silting 

problems now because it’s in a 

deeper part of the lake,” explained 

“this is essentially a whole new water supply system. 

the new pump station provides dual intakes, so we have 

redundancies to prevent service interruptions.”
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Kirsten Lott, SaskWater Project 

Engineer. “And we’re going to have a 

much better line of sight for the radio 

communication between the pump 

station and the water treatment 

plant,” she added, noting the plant 

signals the volumes it needs from the 

pump station via radio transmissions.

The new pipeline that links the pump 

station and water treatment plant 

spans a distance of 1.5  kilometres.

Dunlop explained that, due to a 

small number of customers on 

the system, the grant funding was 

particularly welcome for this project 

as it has helped reduce the scope of 

rate increases. SaskWater was able 

to successfully negotiate and sign 

new agreements with all system 

customers in the fall of 2017.



34 PurSuING eXCeLLeNCe

SaskWater First Nations Training Program Boasts Long and Successful History

As of 2018, SaskWater’s successful First 

Nations operator training program 

traces its roots back 40 years.

Today, the program employs four 

SaskWater circuit trainers, who 

travel to First Nations across the 

province to provide hands-on training 

and support to their water and 

wastewater operators. On behalf of 

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC), 

SaskWater staff have trained 70 

operators in 2017–18 alone.

“It’s good, important work that needs 

to be done, and we’re good at it,” 

said SaskWater’s Randonn Swan, 

Manager, Special Services. “Our 

employees are really well-trained and 

they have tons of experience and 

they like what they do, so it’s a good 

fit for the corporation.”

The program originated in 

1978, when the Department of 

Northern Saskatchewan set out 

to assist northern residents in 

the operation and maintenance of 

water and wastewater services in 

their communities.

New treatment plants were being 

built and, typically, the operators 

were being recruited from those 

involved in the construction. While 

they had some familiarity with the 

facilities, costly breakdowns and 

challenges with freezing pipe soon 

made it apparent that a standardized 

operator training program would be 

required to ensure dependable, and 

economically efficient services.

In 1979, the first formal training 

program was delivered at Green 

Lake. This pilot project led to the 

development of an instructional 

manual. Building on this manual, the 

program was developed into a series 

of 160 skill units that addressed 

water and sewage treatment, water 

distribution, and sewage collection. 

The manual has been updated over 

the years to reflect technological 

advancements in the water and 

wastewater industry.

In 1984, the training program came 

under the direction of the newly 

established Saskatchewan Water 

Corporation, and within the same 

year, a contract was signed that 

would bring the program’s focus to 

serving the province’s First Nations.

As the program grew, its success was 

noted across Canada and beyond. 

The training manual and program 

approach has served as a template 

for similar training programs adopted 

in Manitoba, Alberta, and Alaska. 

The SaskWater training program 

also inspired what has evolved 

into a national ISC Circuit Rider 

Training Program.

While the training modules have 

evolved over the years, what hasn’t 

changed is the hands-on practical 

approach of the program. SaskWater 

circuit trainers are in the plants 

regularly to help operators trouble-

shoot their specific issues. They assist 

with emergency technical problems 

or preventative maintenance work 

like flushing or discharging a system, 

pulling pumps, or discharging a 

lagoon. They are involved in creating 

emergency response plans and 

required training schedules.

“They’re in the plant at least every 

month, and sometimes weekly,” Swan 

noted. “So they know how best to 

support their operators.”

SaskWater’s contract with ISC has 

grown from its original intent to 

serve two communities in 1984, to 29 

communities in 2017–18. Through the 

years, SaskWater has taken on more 

work for ISC, including an ongoing 

contract for water consumption record 

collection in most Saskatchewan 

First Nations, as well as some 

remote monitoring.“It’s good, important work that needs to be done,  

and we’re good at it.”
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SaskWater First Nations Training Program Locations

SaskWater currently provides training and support  

to operators working on the following Saskatchewan  

First Nations water systems:

1 Seekaskootch #119

2 Thunderchild #115B

3 Thunderchild #115C – Turtle Lake

4 Saulteaux #159

5 Saulteaux #159A – Birch Lake

6 Chitek Lake #191

7 Moosomin #112B

8 Witchekan Lake #117

9 Big River #118

10 Ahtahkakoop #104

11 Little Pine #116

12 Poundmaker #114

13 Sweetgrass #113

14 Mosquito #109

15 Red Pheasant #108

16 Fishing Lake #89

17 The Key #65

18 Keeseekoose #66

19 Cote #64

20 Day Star #87

21 Kawacatoose #88

22 Muskowekwan #85

23 Sakimay #74

24 Cowessess #73

25 Kahkewistahaw #72

26 Ochapowace #71

27 Ocean Man #69

28 Pheasant Rump #68

29 White Bear #70

1
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Initiatives

Corporate social responsibility and sustainability 

initiatives that fall under SaskWater’s goal of Pursuing 

Excellence include:

• promoting the value of water and the celebration 

of World Water Day 2018 through advertising, 

contests within our customer communities’ schools 

and providing water conservation information to 

customers and events

• facilitating school tours of our water treatment plants

• preparing handbills to encourage customer communities 

to request SaskWater’s Save a drop. Save a lot. 

brochures for their residents

• promoting www.saskwater.com as a resource for water 

conservation materials

• a Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Committee that meets 

regularly to review potential initiatives to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions. The committee has 

implemented initiatives including:

• changing inefficient lighting to more 

efficient LED lighting

• implementing a pump optimization program to 

lower power consumption by reducing average 

operating pressures in water supply lines

• reducing employee travel by implementing 

remote access to facilities for diagnostic and 

troubleshooting purposes

• installation of solar panels at the Wakaw-

Humboldt water treatment plant to increase use 

of renewable energy and lower GHG emissions

• taking an active approach to minimizing water loss on 

its water supply systems. The target is a water loss 

rate of 3 per cent or less. (See the System Reliability 

Index measure in the Balanced Scorecard on page 38.)

• participating in corporate recycling of paper, plastics, 

electronics and batteries

SoLAr PANeLS IN WAkAW ProVIDe ProMISING AVeNue 

For GreeNHouSe GAS reDuCtIoNS

In a field next to the Wakaw-Humboldt water treatment 

plant, a large expanse of solar panels is a striking 

example of SaskWater’s strides toward reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions.

“The design is living up to what it was projected to do,” 

said Bob Baumgartner, Manager, Instrumentation and 

Electrical Systems at SaskWater. Baumgartner said the 

panels are producing 100% of the output they promised, 

which is encouraging in terms of their ultimate function  – 

providing a measurable reduction in SaskWater’s 

greenhouse gas emissions.
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“We’ve done some other positive 

projects that contribute to our 

greenhouse gas reduction such 

as lighting retrofits and pump 

optimization, but the solar option 

really provides some significant 

headway,” Baumgartner explained.

The Wakaw-Humboldt solar panel 

pilot project was born as a result 

of targets set by SaskWater’s 

Greenhouse Gas Committee, which 

ultimately identified solar power 

generation as the most effective way 

to reduce the corporation’s output.

Phase 1 consists of 75 solar panels, 

which have been in place and 

operational since the first week 

of March 2018. The bank of panels 

has a footprint of approximately 

45  metres  x  15  metres. At full 

production, Phase 1 will produce 

approximately 40,000  Kilowatt 

hours of energy per year, which is 

equivalent to 5 per cent of the annual 

power use at the Wakaw-Humboldt 

water treatment plant.

SaskWater is using this site to pilot 

test the viability of solar power 

for its treatment and transmission 

facilities, with the potential to install 

at other locations. While a few 

more details need to be addressed 

to have the panels operating full-

time, it is anticipated that this site 

will be fully operational in 2018–19, 

and Baumgartner is optimistic 

that subsequent phases will follow 

in short order.

“It has been a very interesting project 

for SaskWater. We have learned a lot,” 

said Baumgartner. “Now that we’ve 

got everything figured out, the next 

installation will be much easier.”

Phase 2 will involve the addition 

of another 75 panels to the site, 

and Phase 3 would see 98 more 

panels installed, bringing the total 

to 248 panels with a footprint of 

90  metres  x  45  metres. The three 

phases together are anticipated to 

produce 154,000 Kilowatt hours of 

energy per year, roughly 19 per  cent 

of the water treatment plant’s 

annual power use.
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Balanced Scorecard

Strategic Objective Measure
2017–18 
Target

2017–18 
Result

Indicator 
Light

2018–19 
Target

2019–20 
Target

2020–21 
Target

2021–22 
Target

2022–23 
Target

Ensure that our 
infrastructure is safe, 
reliable and efficient

6 System Reliability  
Index

19.69 20.00 19.69 19.69 19.69 19.69 19.69

7 Asset Renewal  
and Replacement

3.0% 4.0% 3.9% 4.0% 3.2% 2.0% 2.0%

Continue to provide 
safe and reliable water 
that meets and exceeds 
regulatory requirements

8
Water Quality  
Index

0.986 0.995 0.986 0.987 0.988 0.989 0.990

Identify and implement 
efficient and effective 
business and 
operational processes

9 Corporate  
Operating Ratio

0.52 0.50 0.52 0.49 0.49 0.46 0.47

10 Corporate  
Productivity  
per FTE ($000)

$416 $448 $423 $443 $446 $479 $478

Legend

Exceeded target by 20% or greater

On target

Slightly off target by up to 20%

Off target by greater than 20%

Target information not available

Providing safe and reliable water and wastewater 

services efficiently and effectively is fundamental to 

SaskWater’s operations. SaskWater’s Pursuing Excellence 

goal is to ensure that customers receive high-quality, safe 

drinking water, delivered in an efficient and economically 

sustainable manner. SaskWater has established three 

main strategic objectives related to this measure. 

SaskWater will ensure safe, reliable and efficient 

infrastructure; safe and reliable water that meets and 

exceeds regulatory requirements; and will implement 

efficient and effective business and operational 

processes. Five measures have been identified and 

aligned accordingly. 

System Reliability  
Index Factor Results

2017–18 
Factor 
Target

2017–18 
Result

Unplanned Service 
Interruption Factor (USIF)

30 14

Length of 
Interruption Factor (LIF)

93.75% 100%

Planned Service 
Interruption Factor (PSIF)

95% 100%

Water Loss Factor (WLF) 3% 1.90%
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The System Reliability Index tracks the reliability and 

efficiency of SaskWater’s systems and services. This 

measure’s success is based upon four main features: 

unplanned service interruptions, length of interruptions, 

compliance with interruption procedures, and water 

loss. Each individual factor is given a score out of one, 

with one being a perfect score. The 2017–18 result for the 

System Reliability Index is on target, where SaskWater 

either met or exceeded each of the factors that 

comprise the index.

SaskWater is committed to continued investment 

in maintaining existing assets. The Asset Renewal 

and Replacement measure establishes a percentage 

of the budget to be allocated to asset renewal and 

replacement projects. In 2017–18, SaskWater surpassed 

its target range by 25 per cent. This is considered as not 

meeting the target because the target was surpassed 

due to unforeseen cost overruns related to a pipeline 

replacement project. 

The corporation ensures customers receive safe drinking 

water that meets and exceeds regulatory standards. 

The Water Quality Index measure identifies four critical 

factors that are to be measured and adhered to in order 

to promote high-quality water throughout SaskWater’s 

potable water systems. The factors include chlorine, 

turbidity, bacteriological analysis and trihalomethanes 

(THMs). For the target calculation, each factor is given a 

weighted percentage based on risk and impact associated 

with their potential presence in the water source. The 

Water Quality Index was on target for 2017–18, with 

all SaskWater systems either meeting or exceeding 

each of the Water Quality Index factors. Full details 

regarding 2017 water quality results can be found in 

SaskWater’s annual Water Quality Report located at 

http://www.saskwater.com/quadrant/media/2017_Water_

quality_-_FINAL.pdf.  

As a provincial Crown corporation, SaskWater is 

committed to operating efficiently and continuously 

identifies where costs can be lowered and where 

productivity can be improved. The Corporate Operating 

Ratio identifies this relationship by considering total 

operating and overhead costs in relationship to overall 

revenue. SaskWater was successful in meeting its 2017–18 

target of 0.52. 

Similar to the Corporate Operating Ratio, the Corporate 

Productivity per Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) measure tracks 

employee productivity by using a ratio of earned revenue 

to the number of FTEs in the organization. An FTE is all 

paid hours worked, including overtime hours. The 2017–18 

result for this measure is better than target.

2017-18 Target

2017-18 Result
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S KEY STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

CREATE A CHALLENGING AND 
REWARDING WORKPLACE

RECRUIT AND RETAIN 
QUALIFIED PEOPLE

PROVIDE A WORKPLACE THAT 
PROMOTES SAFETY AND EMPLOYEE 
HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

“We provide employees with opportunities 

and challenges in an environment that is 

safe, inclusive, respectful and supportive to 

maximize their potential.”
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SaskWater Safety Program Evolving to Incorporate Technology  

and Reflect Best Practices 

The foundation of SaskWater’s safety 

culture is being steadily strengthened 

thanks to some important initiatives 

that continued through 2017–18. 

The Site Docs application, a digital 

reporting tool introduced in 2016-17, 

has quickly become an integral 

piece of the corporation’s entire 

safety structure. 

“Basically, it’s the core of our safety 

program. It clearly reflects what the 

staff is doing in the field,” said Miles 

Yeroschak, Occupational Health and 

Safety Manager at SaskWater. 

Site Docs facilitates things like adding 

photos into reports, and allows staff 

to quickly complete processes that 

were once bogged down by paper 

forms. As a result, Yeroschak is 

observing a shift where the staff are 

readily performing procedures once 

viewed as chores. 

“Employees are starting to embrace 

safety as part of their jobs. They 

see the value it brings to their work 

in terms of a job going smoothly, 

not to mention their own well-

being,” he said. 

With the time that’s freed up, he’s 

beginning to see an increase in 

beneficial safety activities such as 

toolbox talks, facility inspections 

and employee audits. In the 

last year, 51 of these audits and 

inspections were reported.

As Site Docs use became the norm 

in 2017–18, the program has provided 

Yeroschak with a rich supply 

of information.

“We’re getting to a point where we 

have a good baseline of safety data 

that can inform our future decisions 

and show us the areas we should 

focus on,” he explained.

SaskWater’s Fit for Duty program was 

another project that was developed 

in 2017–18. It is intended as a best 

practice initiative to formalize existing 

company policy; once introduced, the 

program will also address obstacles 

encountered by field staff. Amongst 

the industrial customers SaskWater 

works with, there is a rising 

expectation that anyone accessing 

their sites for work purposes must 

provide proof of alcohol and drug 

screening. SaskWater staff will soon 

carry the necessary credentials. 

The Confined Space Entry program 

also got an overhaul in 2017–18 to 

ensure procedures reflected best 

practices. There are a number of 

instances where field employees 

might encounter confined spaces, 

which range from the inside 

of manholes, to clear wells, 

vessels and tanks.

With these three programs progressing  

as planned, Yeroschak has also been  

able to lay the groundwork for some  

significant projects upcoming in 2018–19. 

Planning has gone into an effort to 

update and clarify policy regarding 

personal protective equipment 

being used in the field. These efforts 

will result in expanding the list 

of mandatory protective wear for 

SaskWater field staff. 

The other substantial planning piece 

for the Safety unit included the 

sourcing and setup of a software tool 

called Everbridge, a working alone 

and mass notification app. Beyond 

its value for individual safety check-

ins, Everbridge’s mass-notification 

function will play into both 

SaskWater’s Emergency Response 

and Business Continuity plans. It is 

expected to be rolled out for regular 

use in 2018–19.

With a productive year under his 

belt, Yeroschak has been grateful 

to have an additional employee 

resource at his disposal. He noted 

that Darin Orb, Manager of District 

Operations at SaskWater, completed 

his National Construction Safety 

Officer designation in 2017–18 and has 

been able to assist in functions such 

as safety audits and inspections in 

his own district.

“He’s been the safety champion for 

his group and an additional resource 

I can lean on if I need it,” Yeroschak 

said. He noted that having someone 

with Orb’s experience pushing a 

safety agenda in the field has been 

a significant factor in building the 

safety culture of the corporation.
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“Employees are starting to embrace 

safety as part of their jobs. They see 

the value it brings to their work in 

terms of a job going smoothly, not 

to mention their own well-being.”
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Fitness Challenge Brings Out Healthy Habits and a Little  

Friendly Competition at SaskWater

In the spring of 2017, with the Canada 

150 festivities just around the corner, 

a group of SaskWater staff were 

inspired to celebrate their patriotism 

through a fitness challenge.

The concept was simple enough  – 

perform weekly exercises, in multiples 

of 150, both in honour of Canada’s 

anniversary and in the interest 

of good health.

The SaskWater Canada 150 Challenge 

was issued to all SaskWater 

employees and the response was 

enthusiastic, with participants 

representing four SaskWater 

locations stepping up.

“People were really invested,” said 

Jenny Gadd, Administration and 

Records Analyst at SaskWater Head 

Office. “It was a fun way to get up 

and active and interact with co-

workers. Not to mention, a little 

friendly competition is always a  

great way to stay motivated.”

Those who were interested in a more 

robust challenge could partake in 

the seven weekly challenges, wherein 

they were to perform 150 sets, or 

single repetitions (depending on the 

intensity) of a prescribed exercise.

Those who wanted to add some 

gentler healthy habits to their day 

participated in the Take 15 for 150 

walking challenge, wherein they 

had to track 10 15-minute walking 

breaks taken with a colleague over 

the seven-week period. This fitness 

goal provided a dose of rejuvenating 

sunlight and exercise, as well as some 

valuable team-building time.

It’s likely that never before, nor since 

week one of the challenge, have so 

many staff members crossed paths in 

the office stairways, as many spent 

breaks logging their 150 flights of 

stairs for the week.

In week two, their lower extremities 

protested again as they took on 

150 squats, followed by 150 lunges 

the following week. In week four, 

the focus turned to the abdominals 

with 150 crunches and the upper 

body got a workout with 150 push-

ups in week five.

Week six was a full-body strength 

challenge with an expectation of 150 

seconds of planking per day, which 

led into the ultimate full-body test in 

week seven, when the most dedicated 

performed 150 burpees.

The completion rate was impressive,  

with two-thirds of participants 

finishing one or both of the 

challenges, and many others 

coming close and demonstrating 

a strong commitment to a healthy 

work environment.

“It was a fun way to get up and active and interact with 

co-workers. Not to mention, a little friendly competition 

is always a great way to stay motivated.”
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Initiatives

Corporate social responsibility 

and sustainability initiatives 

under SaskWater’s goal of Valuing 

Employees include developing a 

positive, engaged and representative 

workforce through:

• support for a representative 

workforce through core 

training opportunities

• corporate and employee support 

for events and charity fundraisers 

such as Anti-Bullying Day 

and Plaid for Dad

• participation in the Good Food 

Box program that is designed 

to promote healthy eating and 

support Hunger in Moose Jaw

• support for employees who 

volunteer their own time for 

external philanthropic activities 

such as the First LEGO League 

Provincial Tournament, Moose Jaw 

Health Foundation Radiothon and 

Sundae with Santa 

SASkWAter VoLuNteerS FeeL  

rIGHt At HoMe At WAter-tHeMeD  

LeGo robotICS CoMPetItIoN

SaskWater staff were quick to 

jump into a rather fitting volunteer 

opportunity in February of 2018.

The 2018 First LEGO League 

provincial tournament – a robotics 

competition offering young students 

a hands-on application of science, 

technology, engineering, and 

math (STEM) concepts  – adopted a 

hydrodynamics theme.

The Grades 4–8 students who 

attended the competition were 

tasked with designing and 

programming a Lego-based robot 

that could manoeuver a series of 

obstacles and accomplish prescribed 

actions within a large-scale Lego 

obstacle course. They were also 

challenged to research a real-world 

problem with a hydrodynamics focus 

and present a potential solution.

Beyond experiencing the exciting 

thrill of the head-to-head robot 

competition, students got to develop 

team-building skills and even 

presentation skills.

SaskWater Project Engineer Aaron 

Fichtner volunteered to act in a 

judging capacity and was treated to 

the student project presentations.

“This year’s focus on hydrodynamics 

gave exposure to water-related 

challenges facing society, which 

the students would likely not get 

otherwise. It also gave me the 

opportunity to share with the 

students my experience working in 

the water industry,” he said. “The 

kids obviously had a lot of fun 

working with the Lego, but they 

were also learning robotics, problem-

solving and computer programming, 

which are great skills to have at 

such a young age.”

SaskWater Corporate Communications  

Consultant Suzanne Boyer took 

the opportunity to share some of 

SaskWater’s conservation-themed 

educational materials with the 

competition attendees during 

the morning. She then spent the 

afternoon at the heart of the 

action, resetting the robot obstacle 

course between races.

“It was incredible. It was almost like 

you could see the wheels turning in 

the heads of these young students as 

they worked to find quick solutions 

and overcome obstacles,” she said. 

“I was proud to be a part of their 

learning experience.”

SaskWater sponsored the event, 

covering the team entry fees 

and custom-made Lego trophies. 

Students from SaskWater customer 

communities such as Southey 

and Bruno were among the nine 

teams that attended from schools 

across the province.
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“It was incredible. It was almost like you could see 

the wheels turning in the heads of these young 

students as they worked to find quick solutions 

and overcome obstacles.”
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Strategic Objective Measure
2017–18 
Target

2017–18 
Result

Indicator 
Light

2018–19 
Target

2019–20 
Target

2020–21 
Target

2021–22 
Target

2022–23 
Target

Create a 
challenging and 
rewarding workplace

11 Employee  
Engagement  
Survey

N/A N/A 74% N/A 75% N/A 76%

Recruit and retain 
qualified people

12
Retention Rate 92% 94% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92%

Provide a workplace 
that promotes 
safety and employee 
health and well-being

13 Total Recordable 
Injury Rate (TRIR)

3.18 3.34 3.18 3.13 3.08 2.02 1.99

14 Lost Time Injury 
Severity Rate (LTIS)

15.88 0.00 15.88 15.63 12.31 9.09 4.98

SaskWater supports the growth and well-being of its 

employees. The Valuing Employees goal focuses on three 

main strategic objectives: creating a challenging and 

rewarding workplace, recruiting and retaining qualified 

people, and creating a workplace that promotes safety 

and employee health and well-being. SaskWater has 

identified four measures that it uses to measure its 

success in this area.

The Employee Engagement Survey is conducted biennially 

to track the effectiveness of employee engagement 

management strategies. The survey was scheduled for 

2017–18, but was deferred to 2018–19 in order to meet 

cost restraint requirements.   

The Retention Rate measure tracks resignations/

terminations and monitors trends that help inform 

workforce planning. Targets for this measure were set 

using benchmarks and historical data, and the targets for 

this measure are considered to be at the higher end of 

the benchmark range. SaskWater met the 2017–18 target 

with a 94 per cent retention rate. SaskWater intends to 

maintain a 92 per cent target over the next five years.

SaskWater calculates two types of Injury Rate measures: 

Total Recordable Injury Rate (TRIR) and Lost Time Injury 

Severity Rate (LTIS). Each measure’s ultimate goal is to 

reduce all workplace injuries to zero, with future targets 

slowly approaching that goal. TRIR is calculated at the 

point when an occupational injury requires medical 

treatment beyond standard first aid. LTIS calculates the 

number of workdays employees miss as a result of an 

injury. SaskWater was on track with both targets, with no 

workplace injuries resulting in lost time.  

Legend

Exceeded target by 20% or greater

On target

Slightly off target by up to 20%

Off target by greater than 20%

Target information not available

Balanced Scorecard
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KEY STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

ACHIEVE RETURN ON EQUITY TARGETS 
APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDER

OPERATE WITHIN DEBT RATIO 
APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDER

“We are committed to sustainable 

financial growth that provides value to our 

shareholder, while offering competitive rates 

and supporting provincial growth through 

strategic investments and partnerships.”
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2017–18 reSuLtS

Earnings for 2017–18 are $8.2 million.

Total revenues increased by $3.9 million or 7.2 per  cent  

to $56.9 million for the current year, up from 

$53.0  million in 2016–17.

Revenues from water sales and treatment for the year 

increased by 9.5 per cent over 2016–17. Potable water 

sales were bolstered by a hot summer and continued 

customer community growth around major cities. Non-

potable water sales improved as the K+S Potash Canada 

mine continued to ramp up production and an industrial 

agricultural customer continued elevated levels of 

consumption over historical volumes.

Revenues from other services include project 

management engineering, certified operation and 

maintenance, and training and support to a number of 

First Nations communities. Revenue from the project 

management line of business for pre-construction 

engineering work related to customer feasibility studies 

decreased $1.6 million this year as projects were being 

completed. This was offset by approximately $500,000 

in additional revenue related to new customers in 

our certified operation and maintenance activities 

and the work done in managing projects in northern 

Saskatchewan in conjunction with the Ministry of 

Government Relations. The remainder of the service 

lines of business stayed relatively consistent year 

over year. Other revenues saw a one-time increase 

as SaskWater was able to renegotiate its customer 

contracts on a former legacy system to improve the 

financial sustainability of the system, thereby allowing 

a reversal of $0.9 million in onerous contracts and asset 

impairment charges.

2016-17 Result

2017-18 Result
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Total operating expenses increased by $2.0 million or  

4.5 per cent to $46.7 million for the year, up from  

$44.7 million in 2016–17.

Operations Maintenance and Administration (OM&A) 

expense for the year decreased by $0.7 million 

as compared to 2016–17, largely reflecting the 

reduction in project management work and general 

expenditure restraint. 

Bulk water purchases are amounts paid to buy potable 

water from other treatment plants and then distribute 

it to SaskWater customers, in lieu of SaskWater building 

its own water treatment plant. This is largely paid to the 

City of Saskatoon, with some purchases also from the 

Buffalo Pound Water Administration Board, the City of 

Regina and the City of Moose Jaw. Bulk water purchases 

during the year were $1.4 million or 15.6 per cent higher 

than 2016–17, as a result of the hot summer, continued 

customer community growth and rate increases applied 

by treatment plant owners in those areas.

Salaries and benefits increased during the year by 

$0.4 million or 3.5 per cent as compared to 2016–17. 

The increase is primarily reflecting the full year of 

new staff brought on to support the addition of the 

Melville area customers, a new staff member in support 

of SaskWater’s information technology strategy, and 

assuming responsibility for certain payroll and accounting 

services that had previously been provided by another 

government entity.

Amortization of property and plant and equipment 

rose $0.8 million over 2016–17 primarily as a result of 

infrastructure being replaced during the year. During 
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2017–18, SaskWater put into service $3.4 million of new 

customer and growth-related infrastructure, $18.4 million 

of replacement and upgrade-related infrastructure and 

$1.3 million of equipment into service during the year.

Net finance expense for the year was $2.1 million, up 

slightly from $1.9 million in 2016–17. Unrealized changes in 

the market value of debt retirement funds included in the 

2016–17 results was a net loss of $0.1 million. Net finance 

expense without market adjustments increased $0.3 

million from 2016–17. The increase relates to additional 

long-term debt incurred to finance capital investments. 

CAPItAL INVeStMeNt

During the year, $24.2 million was spent on capital projects, 

including new construction and expansion, existing 

infrastructure refurbishment and asset management 

programs. SaskWater invested $11.0  million from its 

own source funds and the remainder was received from 

customers as contributions in aid of capital. A number of 

the projects were initiated in prior years and include:

• Design and construction of the new Melville water 

treatment plant and non-potable supply wells and 

pipeline. The pipeline is substantially complete and 

work on the water treatment plant has begun.

• Replacement of three bridge structures and several 

cross drains was completed on the Saskatoon 

Southeast Water Supply (SSEWS) canal system.

• Design and construction of the Elbow lake 

intake, pump station and non-potable supply 

pipeline was completed.

• The Nipawin Regional Wastewater System force main 

and river crossing project carried over from the 

previous year and was completed.
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LIQuIDItY AND CAPItAL reSourCeS

SaskWater secures capital investment dollars through a 

combination of internally generated cash from operations 

and from debt arranged through the Government of 

Saskatchewan, Ministry of Finance. The maximum short-

term borrowing and maximum total borrowing are 

established by Order in Council as follows:

NeW ACCouNtING StANDArDS IN tHe CurreNt YeAr

SaskWater adopted the following new and amended 

standards and interpretations effective April 1, 2017:

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 

Effective April 1, 2017, SaskWater prospectively adopted 

the amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. The 

amendments require a reconciliation of the opening 

and closing liabilities that form part of an entity's 

financing activities, including both changes arising from 

cash flows and non-cash changes. The application of 

these amendments has had no disclosure impact on 

SaskWater’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Effective April 1, 2017, SaskWater has early adopted IFRS  9 

Financial Instruments. As a result of the adoption of 

IFRS  9, SaskWater adopted consequential amendments 

to IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures that were 

applied to 2017–18 disclosures but generally have not 

been applied to comparative information. The key 

changes in implementing IFRS 9 were:

• SaskWater replaced the “incurred loss” model under 

IAS 39 with the “expected credit loss” model under 

IFRS 9 for impairing financial assets measured at 

amortized cost.  Under IFRS 9, credit losses are 

recognized earlier than under IAS 39. This change did 

not have a material impact on the statements.  

• SaskWater classified debt retirement funds as fair 

value through profit and loss under IAS 39. Under 

IFRS  9 debt retirement funds are classified as fair 

value through other comprehensive income based 

on the business model objective to both hold the 

underlying investments to collect contractual cash 

flows and to sell. Effectively, this change moves 

market gains or losses out of net finance expense  

and into other comprehensive income.

$ (millions)
Year ended  

March 31, 2018
Year ended  

March 31, 2017

Total Assets $351.9 $338.1

Return on Equity 12.5% 11.0%

Debt Ratio 46.6% 44.7%

Dividends Declared $2.019 $1.646

Financing ($ millions) Authorized
Outstanding at  
March 31, 2018

Short Term (Promissory Notes) $30 $5.000

Total (including short term) $130 $71.393
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2018–19 outLook

SaskWater anticipates revenues to stay fairly consistent, 

moving to $54.0 million (a decrease of 5.4 per cent). It 

is anticipated that potable and non-potable revenues 

will return to more normal levels compared to those 

following the hot, dry summer experienced in 2017–18. 

Another factor will be the continued decline of project 

management revenues as projects have concluded.

The corporation has budgeted a net income of 

$6.2  million for 2018–19, which represents a projected 

return on equity of 9 per cent.

SaskWater anticipates declaring a dividend for the 

2018–19 fiscal year equal to 25 per cent of profits, or 

approximately $1.6 million.

SaskWater expects to invest a maximum of $33.4 million 

net ($34.0 million gross, with the difference made up from 

customer contributions in aid of capital) in water and 

wastewater infrastructure projects in the province.

Investments include:

• Melville Potable Water Supply System – Completion of 

water treatment plant

• Irrigation Woodlot – Full-scale irrigation woodlot 

project with potential new customer

• Saskatoon Potable and Non-potable Systems – Pump 

upgrades to support growth

• Saskatoon Potable East – Steel pipe replacement

• SSEWS Canal Improvements – Structure 

replacement program

• General Asset Management Projects

Future ACCouNtING CHANGeS

The following standards and amendments to standards 

have been issued but are not effective for the year 

ended March 31, 2018, and may have an impact on the 

financial statements:

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 

effective January 1, 2018

• IFRS 16 Leases, effective January 1, 2019

The corporation is reviewing the standards to determine 

the potential impact of these new standards and 

amendments to standards.
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($ Millions) Key Financial Data

Years
Total  

Comprehensive 
Income

Revenue Total Assets
Return on  

Average Equity
Debt Ratio

2017–18 $8.2 $56.9 $351.9 12.5% 46.6%

2016–17 $6.5 $53.0 $338.1 11.0% 44.7%

2015–16 $5.6 $48.0 $328.9 10.3% 45.7%

2015–16* $7.4 $59.0 $328.9 13.7% 45.7%

2014 $5.5 $43.9 $316.4 11.3% 45.0%

2013 $3.5 $42.3 $223.9 8.0% 52.9%

2015–16* – data is for the 15-month period January 1, 2015 – March 31, 2016

($ Millions) Key Operational Data

Years
Total 

 Customer 
 Accounts

Total Sales Volumes 
(cubic metres)

Kilometres of Potable 
 and Non-potable Pipeline

Full-Time 
Equivalent Employees

2017–18 414 44.7 M M3 964 126.9

2016–17 414 43.9 M M3 935 123.9

2015–16 411 46.8 M M3 935 120.0

2015–16* 411 57.4 M M3 935 120.0

2014 406 38.0 M M3 865 115.5

2013 406 40.1 M M3 876 111.9

2015–16* – data is for the 15-month period January 1, 2015 – March 31, 2016
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Risk Management

Providing safe, reliable and 

sustainable water and wastewater 

services is subject to risks that 

can affect the achievement of 

SaskWater’s strategic goals and 

objectives. SaskWater manages 

risk through an Enterprise Risk 

Management (ERM) program designed 

to minimize the impact of risks and 

enable the corporation to achieve 

business goals and performance 

objectives. To ensure consistent 

risk management, SaskWater 

has implemented an Enterprise 

Risk Management Policy that 

provides an approach to manage 

risks and establishes the roles 

and responsibilities throughout 

the organization.

The Executive Committee is 

responsible for identifying risks that 

impact the corporation’s strategic 

objectives and for implementing 

mitigation measures to manage those 

risks. The Board of Directors provides 

oversight and stewardship to the 

corporation and ensures that an 

acceptable risk management program 

is in place. The Board receives an 

annual update that provides a broad 

overview of the top risks and how 

they are being mitigated.

The following discussion outlines 

the top 2017–18 corporate risks 

and the strategies implemented to 

deal with them.

oCCuPAtIoNAL HeALtH AND SAFetY

The health and safety of SaskWater 

employees, contractors, customers 

and the general public are important 

to the corporation. SaskWater’s 

operations staff is exposed to a 

variety of safety risks, including 

confined spaces, working with 

hazardous chemicals and working 

with high-voltage electrical facilities 

where water is located. If SaskWater 

does not provide adequate safety 

measures, such as appropriate 

internal procedures, training and 

safety equipment, staff will be at 

risk. Further, SaskWater’s contractors 

and engineering staff are exposed 

to construction safety risks during 

the construction of water supply 

systems. SaskWater is responsible 

for ensuring that all safety 

requirements are being met. Where 

safety measures are not being met, 

SaskWater runs the risk of regulatory 

fines, negative impacts to reputation 

or finances and/or litigation.

SaskWater manages this risk through:

• the Occupational Health and 

Safety program, which is guided 

by a series of policies and 

procedures that outline safety 

requirements, such as personal 

protective equipment, working 

alone protocols, accident 

investigations and job safety 

hazard analysis 

• Occupational Health and Safety 

committees, managed by a 

dedicated Occupational Health 

and Safety professional, to 

identify corporate health and 

safety requirements of staff 

and contractors

• identified and implemented 

mandatory safety training for 

job requirements

• introduced safety shares and 

sharing of safety protocols 

at corporate and operational 

meetings to encourage a 

culture of safety 

FINANCIAL DePeNDeNCe oN 

INDuStrIAL CuStoMerS

A large portion of SaskWater’s 

revenues are concentrated in a 

few large resource-based industrial 

customers. SaskWater’s revenues 

are susceptible to fluctuations in 

volume usage due to the nature of 

SaskWater’s volumetric-based rates.  

The resource sector is subject to 

global market forces and significant 

production swings. Demand for 

resources is influenced by many 

global economic and environmental 

factors, such as commodity price, 

formation or changes in corporate 

consortiums, population, global trade 

environment and weather/climate 

conditions. As economic conditions 

have a significant influence on the 

consumption patterns of industrial 

customers, any change to production 

and investment decisions could 

either negatively or positively 

impact the demand for services 

offered by SaskWater.
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The strategies that SaskWater uses to 

mitigate this risk include:

• an annual review of potable 

and non-potable rates using 

an industry standard cost of 

service methodology

• identifying minimum purchase 

requirements in contracts to 

offset the effect of volatility 

in service needs

• reinforcing a corporate culture 

to identify and implement cost-

efficient operations

• pursuing business development 

activities that focus on 

diversifying the customer base 

in other areas, with an emphasis 

on leveraging existing regional 

water supply systems

SerVICe INterruPtIoNS  

AND FAILureS

Water and wastewater infrastructure 

is subject to potential service 

interruptions, such as asset failures, 

which could impact customer 

satisfaction and the corporation’s 

reputation and financial position. 

SaskWater has systems and 

assets, including water and 

wastewater treatment facilities 

and/or equipment, pipelines, pump 

stations and booster stations. 

Some of these assets may require 

replacement due to their age and/

or condition. Aging assets are 

expensive to maintain, operate and 

replace and have the potential to 

result in service interruptions if not 

maintained properly.

SaskWater’s water and wastewater 

infrastructure is subject to other 

operational risks, including 

mechanical failure, accidents, severe 

weather conditions, power failure 

and other force majeure events. Any 

of these situations may result in 

service interruptions.

Service interruptions can have an 

impact on both SaskWater and its 

customers. Customers run the risk of 

having no water for consumption or 

production purposes. Where there 

are extended service interruptions, 

customer satisfaction will be 

significantly impacted. With any 

service interruption, SaskWater runs 

the risk of losses to revenue, and 

where asset failures occur, repair 

costs could be substantial.

Strategies in place to mitigate 

these risks include:

• an asset management system 

to proactively manage 

asset refurbishment

• targeted capital spending on 

asset refurbishment for all of 

SaskWater’s systems, particularly 

for those systems that require 

critical asset upgrades

• emergency response plans in place 

for individual facilities

• vulnerability assessments, 

including site security

• contact procedures to 

notify customers in cases of 

service interruptions

• remote monitoring 24 hours a day, 

365 days a year, to provide instant 

alarms in case of problems

• systems designed with 

some redundancy to 

minimize down time

• third party system audits 

every five years to identify 

potential issues

• customers are encouraged to 

have water storage reserves to 

meet their needs in cases of 

service interruptions; in extreme 

circumstances, water may be 

hauled from other locations

• presence of liability insurance

CHANGING reGuLAtorY  

eNVIroNMeNt

SaskWater’s water and wastewater 

operations are subject to stringent 

regulatory requirements that 

govern the environment, health and 

safety, quality of water provided to 

customers, water allocation rights 

and the manner in which SaskWater 

collects, treats, discharges and 

disposes of wastewater.

The federal government continually 

reviews water and wastewater 

regulations, and these changes 

are generally adopted by the 

provincial regulator. Regulatory 

requirements for wastewater have 

become more stringent, requiring 

different timelines to do upgrades 

depending on the condition of water 

treatment facilities.

Regulatory changes in other areas 

of legislation may also impact 

SaskWater’s corporate, operational 

and engineering activities. Any 

changes to legislation regarding 

greenhouse gas emissions, labour 

relations or corporate business 

functions could have some 

material impact.
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Mitigation measures to manage 

this risk include:

• maintaining a solid working 

relationship with the provincial 

and federal regulatory agencies

• actively participating in 

consultation reviews of potential 

regulatory changes

• designing facilities with the 

potential for future regulatory 

changes in mind

• completing the capital budget in 

conjunction with assessments for 

regulatory compliance

• ongoing training of certified 

operators to ensure facilities 

are operated in accordance 

with regulations

CHANGING CoMPetItIVe MArket

SaskWater’s major competitors 

are municipalities themselves. 

Communities choose to operate their 

own water and wastewater facilities 

either because they view third party 

services as too expensive, or do 

not desire to lose control of water 

and wastewater services. Larger 

municipalities may provide regional 

services to adjacent communities as 

a revenue generation strategy.  

Other private water and wastewater 

service providers have expressed 

interest in providing service in 

Saskatchewan. The move toward 

using P3 business arrangements in 

the water sector has resulted in 

private sector entities expressing 

interest in large-scale water and 

wastewater treatment projects 

that have a high potential to 

generate sufficient profit. SaskWater 

needs to be able to address these 

opportunities and be able to 

successfully compete in this market.  

Increased competition by 

municipalities and/or other entities 

may result in the loss of new 

business opportunities or result 

in non-renewal or loss of existing 

service contracts. Other entities, 

particularly municipalities, may be 

seen as having lower overheads 

or little to no profit requirements, 

resulting in costs that are less 

than those of SaskWater. This is a 

challenge that needs to be addressed 

over the near-term in order for 

SaskWater to be seen as competitive 

in the market.  

Strategies that SaskWater is pursuing 

internally to mitigate the impact of 

competition include:

• development of strategic 

and business plans

• development of targeted 

marketing strategy, including 

review of growth targets

• development and training of 

business development group

• obtaining feedback from 

customers regarding customer 

relations and service

• maintaining an external 

presence at key customer events, 

such as Saskatchewan Urban 

Municipalities Association and 

Saskatchewan Association of Rural 

Municipalities conventions

• focusing on cost-effective service

eMPLoYee eNGAGeMeNt

Having a positive relationship with 

SaskWater’s employees is critical 

to the success of the corporation 

and the provision of safe, reliable 

water and wastewater services to 

customers. Employee engagement 

and empowerment are cornerstones 

in having a productive and innovative 

environment. Negative implications of 

deteriorating employee relationships 

are loss of productivity and the 

costs associated, such as a decline in 

innovation, compromised employee/

employer trust and possible labour 

disruptions with in-scope employees. 

SaskWater manages this risk by:

• promoting its commitment  

to train staff

• maintaining a competitive 

remuneration package

• having a commitment to a safe 

work environment

• implementing an employee 

performance management system 

designed to link corporate 

objectives with individual work 

plans and provide constructive 

feedback on performance

• communicating the corporation’s 

plans and activities via an 

employee newsletter 

• monitoring engagement 

levels through an employee 

engagement survey

• having regular meetings with 

the management, staff and/

or union to discuss any issues 

related to policy, mandate, 

corporate direction and/or 

legislative changes
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INForMAtIoN SYSteMS AND 

DAtA MANAGeMeNt

Information technology (IT) is an 

important function to support the 

business and operational processes 

at SaskWater. The reliability and 

efficiency of IT systems is critical to 

the corporation’s success as a service 

provider. Failure of IT could have 

unintended financial and productivity 

consequences that could impact 

SaskWater’s reputation, particularly 

in those situations where the failure 

could have been prevented. 

Cyber security is at the forefront 

in protecting the corporation 

from external IT threats. Malicious 

intrusions to IT systems from 

phishing, spam and malware are 

increasing. Several global attacks in 

2017–18 have raised this risk level to 

heightened awareness. Consistent 

monitoring, updating and training of 

all SaskWater staff is necessary to 

ensure the system is protected.

Additionally, the implementation of 

new IT applications carries its own 

risks that relate to implementation 

costs, achievement in deadlines and 

change management.

To mitigate this risk, SaskWater:

• hired an IT Manager, IT Operations 

Lead and IT Business Analyst

• developed a multi-year IT strategy 

and implementation plan 

• transitioned to a new IT service 

provider and established a 

disaster recovery system

• provided cyber security through 

a third party IT service provider; 

appropriate governance controls 

have been implemented to 

mitigate cyber risk

• provided employee training 

to recognize external 

threats via email

WAter QuALItY

The quality of drinking water is 

important to the health and well-

being of the public. Contamination 

of drinking water either by biological 

pathogens or chemical pollutants 

can cause illness. In the case of 

biological contamination, boil 

water advisories are put in place to 

protect human health.

Contamination to potable water 

systems can result from factors 

such as inadequate or inappropriate 

treatment processes, failure to 

maintain appropriate levels of 

residual chlorine in water supplies 

or external contaminants entering 

potable water systems.

Contamination of source water 

can occur from naturally 

occurring compounds, chemicals 

in groundwater systems and 

pollution from man-made sources. 

Contamination of source water 

can be the result of one incident 

or due to long-term exposure 

that can degrade the quality of 

water over time.  

The contamination of potable 

supplies and/or source water can 

have implications to service delivery 

and may require costly infrastructure 

upgrades and/or an alternate 

supply of water.  

Consequently, potable water is a 

highly regulated resource and any 

issues that may occur require urgent 

responses. If a contamination were 

to occur, services might be either 

suspended or reduced until the 

contamination is cleared.

SaskWater’s operations are 

monitored with stringent water 

treatment standards and controls 

covering: quality of treated water; 

the number, frequency and form 

of water quality testing; and 

mandatory improvement to the water 

treatment processes, if required. 

SaskWater strives to meet or exceed 

the regulatory requirements for 

treatment on all of its potable water 

supply systems to ensure the health 

and safety of customers.

Other mitigation strategies include:

• a corporate Water Quality 

Policy, whereby the corporation 

is required to meet or exceed 

provincial water quality 

regulations at its owned water 

treatment and supply facilities 

and Certified Operation and 

Maintenance (COM) sites

• extensive water quality 

testing and reporting

• ensuring system operators 

meet or exceed the 

regulatory requirements for 

education and training

• working closely with the 

regulatory agencies regarding 

SaskWater’s water infrastructure 

and participating in consultations 

about potential future 

regulatory changes
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• a remote monitoring system that 

is operated 24 hours a day, 365 

days a year, to augment manual 

operations and provide instant 

alarms in case of problems

• procedures to notify 

customers about precautionary 

drinking water advisories or 

boil water orders

• researching, testing and 

implementing new technologies 

and techniques to improve 

the quality of source 

and drinking water

• A Quality Control and Quality 

Assurance plan and Emergency 

Response plan are in place

• day-to-day management and 

oversight of facilities

WeAtHer VArIAbILItY AND 

SeCurItY oF WAter

A secure supply of water can be 

impacted for a variety of reasons, 

including climate change, restrictions 

on use by the regulator, natural 

hazards, severe weather conditions, 

competing uses, water contamination 

(see water quality) and economic 

conditions. This can impact the 

demand for water services, the ability 

to supply to existing customers, 

restrict growth opportunities, and 

impact the financial position of the 

corporation and the reputation of the 

corporation as a provider of water.  

Changes to climate can have 

implications relating to water supply. 

The province naturally experiences 

cycles of wet and dry years; however, 

a changing climate may exacerbate 

this. Cycles of drought are inevitable 

and there will be pressure to meet 

increased customer demands and to 

encourage customers to reduce their 

consumption to ensure sustainability 

of watersheds. With prolonged 

periods of dry conditions, demand 

will increase, which may result in a 

corresponding decrease in the supply 

of source water. In extreme drought 

situations, there is a high probability 

that drought measures would be put 

in place by the regulator. 

Weather can have an impact to 

operations and revenues. Demand 

for water during the warm summer 

months is generally greater than 

during the cooler months in fall, 

winter and spring, due to additional 

requirements for water in connection 

with outside water use. SaskWater 

has historically seen municipal 

demand variation in accordance 

with temperature, rainfall level 

and rainfall frequency, particularly 

during summer months. Extreme 

weather events can cause damage to 

water supply facilities and/or power 

supplies to water facilities, disrupting 

the reliable supply of water. These 

events can also impact the quality/

quantity of the source water.

Mitigation measures include:

• minimum purchase requirements 

in contracts to protect the 

corporation from revenue losses

• a focus on efficiency to 

control costs (i.e. power 

reduction initiatives)

• volume and usage forecasting   

• communication with the Water 

Security Agency regarding 

water supply issues

• monitoring regulatory 

requirements and implementing 

them as required 

• the provision of conservation 

messaging for customers
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Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Initiatives

Corporate social responsibility and sustainability 

initiatives under SaskWater’s goal of Succeeding 

Financially include achieving accountable and transparent 

governance and long-term financial stability:

• To achieve accountable and transparent 

governance, SaskWater:

• implemented an Enterprise Risk Management 

program and supporting policy. Every year, 

the corporation identifies corporate risks and 

assesses the top 10 against likelihood and impact. 

Top risks are identified in the annual report 

for public disclosure and submitted to Crown 

Investments Corporation

• produces the annual report that documents 

the performance of the corporation via the 

balanced scorecard and financial reports for 

public consumption

• To address long-term financial stability for the 

corporation, SaskWater:

• has a cost of service rate methodology in place, 

designed to recover the full cost of providing 

service, including a rate of return

• developed a rate Cabinet Decision Item in 2016 

for a 2017–2018 multi-year rate increase for 

discretionary rate customers. It was approved by 

Cabinet in January 2017 for implementation in May 

2017 and May 2018

• implemented efficiency initiatives to manage 

inflationary cost increases

• found cost reductions and deferred spending to 

help address government fiscal challenges

• participates in Crown collaboration efforts to 

identify services and resources that can be shared 

to reduce overall Crown costs

Strategic Objective Measure
2017–18 
Target

2017–18 
Result

Indicator 
Light

2018–19 
Target

2019–20 
Target

2020–21 
Target

2021–22 
Target

2022–23 
Target

Achieve return on  
equity targets approved  
by shareholder

15 Return on Equity 9.1% 12.5% 9.0% 9.0% 9.0% 10.4% 11.1%

16 Net Income $5,818 $8,076 $6,213 $6,698 $7,117 $8,859 $10,293

Operate within 
debt ratio approved 
by shareholder   

17
Debt to 
Debt and Equity  

52.7% 46.6% 56.2% 60.8% 62.4% 61.1% 59.3%

SaskWater continues its commitment to be financially 

sustainable and to position itself as a leader within the 

water industry. Two areas of priorities for Succeeding 

Financially include achieving the return on equity targets 

approved by shareholder, and operating within debt ratio 

approved by shareholder. Three measures are used to 

monitor these objectives.

2017–18 was a strong year financially. Both Return on 

Equity and Net Income exceeded targets. A combination 

of increased water volumes in the potable and non-

potable water sectors, combined with additional cost 

reduction strategies, account for the increased profit.

Debt to Debt and Equity is lower than targeted for 

2017–18. Due to a strong financial year and capital 

expenditures coming in under budget, SaskWater was 

able to service more of its debt load, resulting in a 

percentage lower than the target. 

Legend

Exceeded target by 20% or greater

On target

Slightly off target by up to 20%

Off target by greater than 20%

Target information not available

Balanced Scorecard
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
I, Doug Matthies, the President and Chief Executive Officer, and I, Danny Bollinger, Director, Financial Services and 

Chief Financial Officer, certify the following:

a. That we have reviewed the financial statements included in the Annual Report of SaskWater. Based on our 

knowledge, having exercised reasonable diligence, the financial statements included in the Annual Report, fairly 

present, in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows, as of March 31, 2018.

b. That based on our knowledge, having exercised reasonable diligence, the financial statements included in the 

Annual Report of SaskWater do not contain any untrue statements of material fact, or omit to state a material 

fact that is either required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the 

circumstances under which it was made.

c. That SaskWater is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 

which includes safeguarding of assets and compliance with applicable legislative authorities; and SaskWater has 

designed internal controls over financial reporting that are appropriate to the circumstances of SaskWater.

d. That SaskWater conducted its assessment of the effectiveness of the corporation’s internal controls over financial 

reporting and, based on the results of this assessment, SaskWater can provide reasonable assurance that internal 

controls over financial reporting as of March 31, 2018, were operating effectively and no material weaknesses were 

found in the design or operation of the internal controls over financial reporting.

On behalf of management,

Doug Matthies 

President and CEO

Danny Bollinger 

Director, Financial Services and Chief Financial Officer

Management’s Responsibility
Management has prepared the financial statements of the corporation in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. The financial data included elsewhere in this report is consistent with these statements and the 

underlying information from which the corporation prepared them.

Management has the primary responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements. To fulfill 

this responsibility, the corporation maintains appropriate systems of internal controls, policies and procedures. 

These systems provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that the books and records reflect the 

authorized transactions of the corporation.

Deloitte LLP, the corporation’s external auditors, have examined the March 31, 2018, financial statements and their 

report follows. The Board of Directors of SaskWater has examined and approved the statements.

On behalf of the corporation,

Doug Matthies 

President and CEO

Danny Bollinger 

Director, Financial Services and Chief Financial Officer

May 24, 2018

May 24, 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of the Legislative Assembly  

Province of Saskatchewan 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Saskatchewan Water Corporation, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,  

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Saskatchewan 

Water Corporation as at March 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants  

Licensed Professional Accountants 

May 24, 2018  

Regina, Saskatchewan
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March 31
2018

March 31 
2017

Revenue (note 4)

Water sales and treatment $ 44,816 $ 40,925 

Services   4,090   5,181 

Other   7,955   6,932 

  56,861   53,038 

Expenses

Salaries and benefits   13,271   12,825 

Operations, maintenance and administration   10,263   10,978 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   12,033   11,223 

Bulk water purchases   10,355   8,974 

Saskatchewan taxes   786   709 

  46,708   44,709 

Net income before the following   10,153   8,329 

Finance income   334   1,032 

Finance expense   (2,411)   (2,884)

Net finance expense (note 5)   (2,077)   (1,852)

Net income   8,076   6,477 

Other comprehensive income

Debt retirement fund market value gains   179   —

Realized losses on debt retirement fund redemptions   (91)   —

Re-classification of realized losses to net finance expense   91   —

Net actuarial (losses) gains on retiring allowance   (51)   6 

Total other comprehensive income   128   6 

Total comprehensive income $ 8,204 $ 6,483 

See accompanying notes

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended
(thousands of dollars)
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March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Assets

Current assets

Cash  (note 6) $ 6,758 $ 4,147 

Trade and other receivables (note 7)   9,761   6,796 

Prepaid expenses and inventories (note 8)   1,052   1,104 

Current portion of deferred charges   4   5 

  17,575   12,052 

Deferred charges   37   41 

Investment – debt retirement funds (note 9)   12,387   16,502 

Property, plant and equipment (note 10)   321,851   309,484 

 $ 351,850 $ 338,079 

Liabilities and Province’s Equity

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (note 11)  $ 7,632 $ 7,868 

Notes payable (note 12)   5,000   7,200 

Infrastructure deposits (note 14)   —   4,140 

Dividends payable (note 13)   664   440 

Current portion of deferred revenue (note 14)   6,339   6,518 

Current portion of provisions (note 15)   190   242 

Current portion of long-term debt (note 16)   —   7,600 

  19,825   34,008 

Deferred revenue (note 14)   196,828   189,716 

Provisions (note 15)   618   1,012 

Long-term debt (note 16)   66,393   51,393 

Employee benefits (note 17)   524   479 

  284,188   276,608 

Province’s equity

Equity advance (note 18)   8,700   8,700 

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income   (176)   1 

Retained earnings   59,138   52,770 

  67,662   61,471 

$ 351,850 $ 338,079 

Commitments and contingencies (note 20)

See accompanying notes

Statement of Financial Position
as at
(thousands of dollars)

On behalf of the Board:
Chair Director
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Equity

Advances

Accumulated 

Other

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Retained

Earnings
Total

Balance, March 31, 2016 $ 8,700 $  (5) $  47,939 $ 56,634 

Net income   —   —   6,477   6,477 

Other comprehensive income   —   6   —   6 

Dividends   —   —   (1,646)   (1,646)

Balance, March 31, 2017    8,700    1    52,770    61,471 

Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2(f)): 

Reclassification of market value

 losses on debt retirement funds   —   (305)   305   —

Recognition of expected credit losses   —   —   6   6 

Net income   —   —   8,076   8,076 

Other comprehensive income   —   128   —   128 

Dividends   —   —   (2,019)   (2,019)

Balance, March 31, 2018 $  8,700 $  (176) $  59,138 $  67,662 

See accompanying notes

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended
(thousands of dollars)
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March 31 
2018

March 31 
2017

Operating activities

Net income $ 8,076 $ 6,477 

Items not affecting cash from operations:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   12,033   11,223 

Impairment recovery   (531)   —

Impairment of assets   48   — 

Amortization of deferred revenue   (6,213)   (6,138)

Amortization of provisions   (510)   (347)

Employee benefits   (6)   15 

Net financing expense   2,077   1,852 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (78)   (39)

Change in non-cash working capital items:

Trade and other receivables   (2,965)   2,301 

Prepaid expenses and inventories   52   (13)

Deferred charges   5   (46)

Trade and other payables   (269)   (766)

Infrastructure deposits   (4,140)   (1,250)

Deferred revenue   13,146   8,652 

Interest paid   (2,319)   (2,039)

Interest received   18   40 

Cash provided by operating activities   18,424   19,922 

Investing activities

Property, plant and equipment expenditures   (24,059)   (24,070)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   322   205 

Cash used in investing activities   (23,737)   (23,865)

Financing activities

Proceeds from long-term debt   15,000   9,575 

Repayment of long-term debt   (7,600)   — 

Net repayments of notes payable   (2,200)   (5,799)

Debt retirement fund installments   (1,621)   (1,482)

Debt retirement fund redemptions   6,140   — 

Dividends paid   (1,795)   (1,396)

Cash provided by financing activities   7,924   898 

Change in cash   2,611   (3,045)

Cash, beginning of year   4,147   7,192 

Cash, end of year $ 6,758 $ 4,147 

See accompanying notes

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended
(thousands of dollars)
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1. General information

  The Saskatchewan Water Corporation (the Corporation) is a corporation located in Canada. The address of the Corporation’s registered office and 
principal place of business is 200-111 Fairford Street East, Moose Jaw, SK, S6H 1C8.

  The Corporation was established on July 1, 1984 under the authority of The Water Corporation Act which remained in effect until September 30, 2002. 
On October 1, 2002 The Saskatchewan Water Corporation Act was proclaimed.

  By virtue of The Crown Corporations Act, 1993, the Corporation has been designated as a subsidiary of Crown Investments Corporation of 
Saskatchewan (CIC). Accordingly, the financial results of the Corporation are included in the consolidated financial statements of CIC, a Provincial 
Crown corporation. As the Corporation is a Provincial Crown corporation, it is not subject to Federal or Provincial income taxes in Canada, but is 
subject to Provincial corporate capital tax.

  The principal activity of the Corporation is to construct, acquire, manage or operate water facilities and to provide services in accordance with any 
agreements that it enters into pursuant to The Saskatchewan Water Corporation Act.

2. Basis of preparation

a) Statement of compliance

  The Corporation’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

  The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 24, 2018.

b) basis of measurement

  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

• Financial instruments that are accounted for according to the financial instrument categories defined in Note 3(m).

• Provisions defined in Note 3(e).

• Employee benefit obligations defined in Note 3(i).

c) Functional and presentation currency

  These financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional currency.

d) Fair value measurement

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in 
the principal or most advantageous market at the measurement date under current market conditions (exit price). The Corporation’s own credit risk 
and the credit risk of the counterparty have been taken into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities. The Corporation 
has classified the fair value of its financial instruments as level 1, 2, or 3 (Note 22) as defined below:

• Level 1 —  Fair values are determined using inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities to which 
the Corporation has immediate access.

• Level 2 —  Fair values are determined using inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly. Debt retirement funds are valued at closing period-end unit prices received from the Saskatchewan Ministry of 
Finance. In all other circumstances, valuations are determined with reference to similar actively traded instruments. All long-term debt 
obligations are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on current market yields for similar arrangements.

• Level 3 — Fair values are determined based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

e) use of estimates and judgments

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

  Based on the review of estimates of useful lives and amortization of property, plant and equipment it was determined that the Corporation’s assets 
that utilized the diminishing balance method of depreciation no longer accurately reflected the pattern in which those assets future economic 
benefits were expected to be consumed. For the affected assets it was determined that they should have a more constant depreciation rate as the 
residual value would not change based on the intended use of the assets future economic benefits. It was further determined that these assets 
effective useful life should not materially change which assisted in determining the appropriate straight-line depreciation rates as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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 2. Basis of preparation (continued)

e) use of estimates and judgments (continued)

 Property, plant and equipment Prior depreciation rate New depreciation rate

 Water facilities

  Controls, instrumentation & remote monitoring equipment 30% Declining Balance 10% Straight Line

  Water metering equipment 30% Declining Balance 10% Straight Line

 Maintenance and office equipment

  Controls, instrumentation & remote monitoring equipment 30% Declining Balance 10% Straight Line

  Water metering equipment 30% Declining Balance 10% Straight Line

  Vehicles & mobile equipment 30% Declining Balance 10% Straight Line

  Major mobile equipment 15% Declining Balance 5% Straight Line

  The impact of this change in estimates results in approximately $435 less expense under the straight line methodology for the 2017/18 fiscal year; over 
the life of the asset the change in estimates will have no impact. The current year amount is based on assets depreciated value within the affected 
categories at the time of the review and may change based on operational decisions throughout the year.

  Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the accounting policy in Note 3, and the following notes:

• Note 7 — trade and other receivables

• Note 10 — depreciation of property, plant and equipment

• Note 14 — deferred revenue and infrastructure deposits

• Note 15 — provisions

• Note 17 — measurement of employee benefits

• Note 20 — commitments and contingencies

f) New standards and interpretations that came into effect during the year

 The Corporation adopted the following new and amended standards and interpretations effective April 1, 2017:

 IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

   Effective April 1, 2017, the Corporation prospectively adopted the amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows. The amendments require 
a reconciliation of the opening and closing liabilities that form part of an entity’s financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. Consequently, the application of these amendments has had no disclosure impact on the Corporation’s 
financial statements.

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

   Effective April 1, 2017, the Corporation has early adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Corporation 
adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures that were applied to 2017–18 disclosures but generally have 
not been applied to comparative information.

   The key changes resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarized below.

i) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

   IFRS 9 includes three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally 
based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. The standard eliminates 
the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

   The debt retirement funds were classified as fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39. The debt retirement funds are administered and 
managed by the Ministry of Finance. The business model objective is to both hold underlying investments in the debt retirement funds to 
collect contractual cash flows and to sell. The contractual terms of the debt retirement funds give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. As a result, these financial assets have therefore been 
classified as debt instruments at FVOCI under IFRS 9.

   The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Corporation’s accounting policies for financial liabilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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 2. Basis of prepara tion (continued)

f) New standards and interpretations that came into effect during the year (continued)

ii) Impairment of financial assets

   IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” model. The new impairment model applies to financial 
assets measured at amortized cost and debt instruments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses 
are recognized earlier than under IAS 39.

iii) Hedge accounting

   IFRS 9 requires the Corporation to ensure that hedge accounting relationships are aligned with risk management objectives and strategy 
and to apply a more qualitative and forward-looking approach to assessing hedge effectiveness.

   The Corporation does not have any hedging arrangements at this time.

iv) Transition

   Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as described below:

• Comparative periods have not been restated for retrospective application. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained earnings as at April 1, 2017.

   The following table summarizes the impact of transition to IFRS 9 on retained earnings, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and 
allowance for doubtful accounts at April 1, 2017:

v) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9.

   Each class of the Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities has maintained the same measurement category under IFRS 9 as its 
original measurement category under IAS 39, with the exception of the following:

• Trade and other receivables previously classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are now classified as amortized cost under IFRS 9; and

• Debt retirement funds classified as FVTPL are now classified as FVOCI.

g) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

  The following standards or amendments to standards have been issued but are not effective for the year ended March 31, 2018 that may have an 
impact on the financial statements:

 Standards or amendments to standards  Effective Date

  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  January 1, 2018
  IFRS 16 Leases  January 1, 2019

 The Corporation is reviewing the standard to determine the potential impact of these new standards and amendments to standards.

Retained earnings

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at March 31, 2017 $ 52,770

Reclassification of market value losses on debt retirement funds under IFRS 9   305

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9   6

Opening balance under IFRS 9 as at April 1, 2017 $ 53,081

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at March 31, 2017  $ 1

Reclassification of market value losses on debt retirement funds under IFRS 9   (305)

Opening balance under IFRS 9 as at April 1, 2017 $ (304)

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at March 31, 2017  $ (75)

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9   6

Opening balance under IFRS 9 as at April 1, 2017 $ (69)

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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3. Significant accounting policies

a) Inventories

  Maintenance materials and treatment supplies inventory are recorded at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. The net 
realizable value of inventory is the estimated market price for the same or similar items. Materials and supplies are charged to inventory when 
purchased and then expensed or capitalized when used.

b) Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated provisions for impairment. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and 
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, and borrowing costs on 
qualifying assets for those projects that are under construction for a period greater than six months. Assets under construction are recorded as in 
progress until they are available for use, at which time they are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

  To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization are determined by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the weighted average of 
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of 
obtaining a qualifying asset.

  All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

  When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment.

  The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in net income as incurred.

  When property, plant and equipment is disposed of or retired, the related cost, accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses 
are eliminated. Any resulting gains or losses are reflected in net income for the period.

c) Depreciation

  Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

  Depreciation is recognized in net income on a straight-line balance basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

  The depreciation rates used for asset classes are as follows:

 Property, plant and equipment Method Rate

 Building  Straight Line 2.5% to 5%

 Water facilities  Straight Line 2% to 10%

 Maintenance equipment and office equipment Straight Line 5% to 33.3%

 Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if appropriate.

d) Impairment

i) Financial assets

   The Corporation recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortized cost; and debt 
instruments designated as FVOCI. The Corporation uses a matrix to determine the lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables.  
Debt instruments and other receivables that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date are measured at 12-month ECL.  
The Corporation considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is A or higher (investment grade).

   The Corporation uses historical patterns for the probability of default, the timing of collection and the amount of the incurred credit loss, 
which are adjusted based on management’s judgment about whether current economic conditions and credit terms are such that actual 
losses may be higher or lower than what the historical patterns suggest. The Corporation assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past due. The Corporation considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower 
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Corporation in full, without recourse by the Corporation to actions such as realizing security, or 
the financial asset is 365 days or more past due.

   Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt 
instruments at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognized in OCI. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
written off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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 3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

d) Impairment (continued)

ii) Non-financial assets

   The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

   The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit, or “CGU”).

   The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, 
then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise, they are allocated to the smallest group 
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

   An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized in net income. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGU’s are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

   Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

e) Provisions

  A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  
The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance expense. Currently the only provision recognized relates to onerous contracts.

f) onerous contracts

  A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Corporation from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable costs of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of 
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Corporation recognizes any 
impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

g) Government grants

  Government grants are recognized initially as deferred revenue at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and 
the Corporation will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Corporation for expenses incurred are 
recognized in net income on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate the Corporation 
for the cost of an asset are recognized in net income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

h) revenue recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services provided, net of discounts and sales taxes. Revenue 
from the rendering of services is recognized in the period the services are provided when there is clear proof that an arrangement exists, amounts 
are determinable and the ability to collect is reasonably assured.

  Customer contributions are received from customers, generally in the form of cash, to assist in the construction of assets to provide services to the 
contributing customers. Prior to the commencement of construction these amounts are recorded as infrastructure deposits. As construction occurs 
these amounts are transferred to deferred revenue.

  When completion of the construction is determined to be a separately identifiable service, these amounts are recognized directly into net income. 
When completion of construction is not determined to be separate from the ongoing supply or services, these amounts are transferred to deferred 
revenue and recognized in net income over the term of the contract with the customer. If the contract does not specify a period or automatically 
continues in effect after an initial term, the revenue shall be recognized over a period no longer than the useful life of the related assets used to 
provide the ongoing service.
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 3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

i) employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits

   Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

   A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii) Defined contribution plan

   A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Corporation pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 
and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognized as an employee benefit expense in net income in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

iii) Defined benefit retirement allowance plan

   The Corporation’s obligation is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 
periods. At each year-end the future benefit is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method. Any actuarial gains or losses 
are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and the Corporation will transfer any actuarial gains or losses from other equity to 
retained earnings in the year it is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

j) Lease payments

  Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as 
an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

k) Finance income and expense

  Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues in net income, using the effective interest method.

  Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in net income using the effective interest method.

l) equity advance

  The Corporation periodically receives funding from its parent and sole equity holder, Crown Investments Corporation of Saskatchewan. Funding is 
first analyzed to determine whether the funding is a transaction with the equity holder in their capacity as an equity holder, i.e. equity injection, or 
whether the funding would be available to other parties for a specific purpose. If there is no requirement to comply with certain conditions relating 
to the operating activities of the Corporation, the funding is recorded as an equity advance. If the Corporation must comply with certain past or 
future conditions relating to the operating activities of the Corporation, and the funding could be available to other parties for a specific purpose, 
the funding is recorded as a government grant (see Note 3(g)).

m) Financial instruments

  The Corporation classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories: amortized cost (AC); fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and other liabilities (OL) (Note 22).

  All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and recorded on the statement of financial position. Financial assets and 
liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to 
offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the 
contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset in a transaction where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred or in a transaction where the Corporation neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset but does not retain control of the asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the 
Corporation is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

  The Corporation initially recognizes debt securities issued on the date that they are originated. All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on 
the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

  The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

  The Corporation also derecognizes a financial liability when there is a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part 
of it. In this situation, a new financial liability under the new terms is recognized at fair value, and the difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability or part of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability under the new terms is recognized in profit or loss.
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 3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

m) Financial instruments (continued)

i) Amortized cost

   A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both of the following criteria are met: The asset is held to collect its contractual cash flows; 
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 
Financial assets included within this category are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less 
impairment losses. The Corporation has classified trade and other receivables as amortized cost financial assets.

ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

   A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following criteria are met: The objective of the business model is achieved both by 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. The Corporation may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition for 
particular investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit or loss to present subsequent 
changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made for each separate investment. Financial assets included within 
FVOCI are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. Movements in the carrying amount should be recorded through OCI, except for 
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in profit and 
loss. Where the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment. The Corporation has classified debt retirement funds as FVOCI assets.

iii) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

   A financial asset is measured at FVTPL if they do not meet the criteria of amortized cost or FVOCI. This includes all derivative financial 
assets. The Corporation may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates 
or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases. Financial assets included within FVTPL should be measured at fair value  
with all changes recorded through profit or loss. The Corporation has classified Cash as FVTPL.

iv) Other liabilities

   Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Upon derecognition,  
all gains and losses are also recognized in profit or loss.
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4. Revenue

March 31
2018

March 31
2017

Water sales and treatment

Potable water supply $ 22,587 $ 20,029 

Non-Potable water supply   21,597   20,279 

Wastewater treatment   632   617 

  44,816   40,925 

Services

Certified operations & maintenance   1,803   1,482 

Project management   834   2,440 

Northern project management   701   545 

Operator training   707   689 

Leak detection   17   10 

Remote monitoring   28   15 

  4,090   5,181 

Other

Amortization of customer contributions   5,944   5,870 

Amortization of government grants – capital related   269   268 

Miscellaneous revenue   1,742   794 

  7,955   6,932 

$ 56,861 $ 53,038 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5. Finance income and expenses

6. Cash

  Cash consists of cash available for current purposes and restricted use cash. Restricted use cash is only available for a specific capital project as it 
relates to an infrastructure deposit agreement and will be drawn upon as actual expenses are incurred.

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Finance income

Debt retirement fund earnings $ 316 $ 352 

Positive changes in fair value of debt retirement funds   —   670 

Other finance income   18   10 

  334   1,032 

Finance expenses

Interest expense on short-term debt   95   79 

Interest expense on long-term debt   2,273   2,015 

Amortization of discount and commissions   5   1 

Negative changes in fair value of debt retirement funds   —   771 

Realized losses on redemption of debt retirement funds   91   —

Unwinding of discount on provisions   64   85 

Other interest expense   (10)   12 

Borrowing costs capitalized to qualifying assets   (107)   (79)

  2,411   2,884 

Net finance expense $ (2,077) $ (1,852)

Interest capitalization rate 0.50% 0.10%

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Cash available for current purposes $ 6,758 $ 7 

Restricted use cash   —   4,140 

$ 6,758 $ 4,147 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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7. Trade and other receivables

  The Corporation’s exposure to credit risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 22.

8. Prepaid expenses and inventories

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Trade receivables $ 5,515 $ 5,649 

Accrued receivables   4,309   1,210 

Other receivables   5   12 

  9,829   6,871 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   (68)   (75)

$ 9,761 $ 6,796 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Allowance for doubtful accounts, opening balance $ 75 $ 77 

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9   (6)   —

Recoveries   (4)   (2)

Provision adjustments   3   —

Allowance for doubtful accounts, ending balance $ 68 $ 75 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Prepaid expenses $ 390 $ 419 

Inventories   662   685 

$ 1,052 $ 1,104 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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9. Investment — debt retirement funds

  Under conditions attached to the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board long-term debt issues from the Province of Saskatchewan’s General 
Revenue Fund (GRF), the Corporation is required (on an annual basis) to invest an amount equal to one per cent of the related outstanding debt. The 
investments, referred to as debt retirement funds, are administered by Saskatchewan’s Ministry of Finance. The investments in debt retirement 
funds are held by the Province of Saskatchewan. The yield on the investments was 2.7% for the year ended March 31, 2018 (1.7% for the year ended 
March 31, 2017). The changes in the carrying amount of debt retirement funds are as follows:

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Debt retirement funds, beginning of year $ 16,502 $ 14,769 

Installments   1,621   1,482 

Redemptions   (6,231)   —

Earnings   316   352 

Change in fair value of debt retirement funds   179   (101)

Debt retirement funds, end of year $ 12,387 $ 16,502 

 Debt retirement fund installments due in each of the next five years are as follows:

2018/19 $ 664 

2019/20   568 

2020/21   568 

2021/22   529 

2022/23   529 

$ 2,858 
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10. Property, plant and equipment

  At March 31, 2018 the Corporation had property, plant and equipment that was fully depreciated and still in use with a cost of $21,959 (March 31, 2017 – 
$17,177).

  For the year ended March 31, 2018, capitalized borrowing costs related to the acquisition of land and construction of new assets amounted to $107 
(March 31, 2017 – $79), with a capitalization rate of 0.5% (2017 – 0.1%).

  During the year ended March 31, 2018 there were additions of $48 to Water Facility to operate certain previously impaired cost generating units, 
resulting in an impairment expense of $48 (March 31, 2017 – $0).

  During the year ended March 31, 2018 contracts relating to certain previously impaired assets were renegotiated and was therefore considered to be 
an event that impacted the assessment. The Corporation reassessed the affected assets based on the renegotiated contract and determined that the 
impairment was no longer appropriate, resulting in an impairment recovery of $531 (March 31, 2017 – $0).

Buildings
Water 

Facilities
Maintenance & 

Office Equipment
Assets under 
Construction

Land Total

Cost

Balance at  
March 31, 2016 $ 3,028 $ 249,586 $ 5,655 $ 135,611 $ 1,734 $ 395,614 

Additions   —   —   459   23,690   —   24,149 

Transfers   —   139,575   30   (139,605)   —   —

Disposals   —   (437)   (344)   —   (5)   (786)

Balance at  
March 31, 2017   3,028   388,724   5,800   19,696   1,729   418,977 

Additions   9   (6)   217   23,922   —   24,142 

Transfers   351   21,319   1,133   (22,803)   —   —

Disposals   (914)   (126)   (140)   —   (3)   (1,183)

Balance at  
March 31, 2018 $ 2,474 $ 409,911 $ 7,010 $ 20,815 $ 1,726 $ 441,936 

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at  
March 31, 2016 $ 1,901 $ 93,195 $ 3,794 $ — $ — $ 98,890 

Depreciation   162   10,632   429   —   —   11,223 

Impairment of assets   —   —   —   —   —   —

Disposals   —   (430)   (190)   —   —   (620)

Balance at  
March 31, 2017   2,063   103,397   4,033   —   —   109,493 

Depreciation   106   11,320   607   —   —   12,033 

Impairment recovery   —   (531)   —   —   —   (531)

Impairment of assets   —   48   —   —   —   48 

Disposals   (745)   (126)   (87)   —   —   (958)

Balance at  
March 31, 2018 $ 1,424 $ 114,108 $ 4,553 $ — $ — $ 120,085 

Carrying amounts

Balance at  
March 31, 2017 $ 965 $ 285,327 $ 1,767 $ 19,696 $ 1,729 $ 309,484 

Balance at  
March 31, 2018 $ 1,050 $ 295,803 $ 2,457 $ 20,815 $ 1,726 $ 321,851 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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11. Trade and other payables

  The Corporation’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 22.

12. Notes payable

  By Order-in-Council 171/2014, SaskWater is authorized to borrow up to $30 million (March 31, 2017 – $30 million) by way of temporary loans from the 
Province of Saskatchewan's General Revenue Fund (GRF).

  The Corporation's exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk related to notes payable is disclosed in Note 22.

13. Dividends payable

  As a subsidiary of CIC, the Corporation declares and remits dividends accordingly.

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Trade payables $ 2,699 $ 3,424 

Interest payable   508   475 

Other payables   4,425   3,969 

$ 7,632 $ 7,868 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Amount outstanding $ 5,000 $ 7,200 

Interest rate 1.168% 0.487%

Due date 2-Apr-18 3-Apr-17

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Balance, beginning of the year $ 440 $ 190

Dividends declared   2,019   1,646

Payments remitted   (1,795)   (1,396)

Balance, end of the year $ 664 $ 440 
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14. Deferred revenue and infrastructure deposits

15. Provisions

  The Corporation had onerous contracts related to two potable systems at the beginning of the year. During the year one of the system’s contracts 
were renegotiated and this was considered a significant event that impacted the assessment of the provision. The Corporation reassessed the 
affected system based on the renegotiated contracts and determined that the impairment was no longer appropriate.

  The remaining system has significant contracts in effect until December 31, 2022. SaskWater evaluates the system’s provision on an annual basis and 
the changes to the provision were related to system performance that was different than anticipated.

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Deferred revenue

Balance, beginning of the year $ 196,234 $ 193,720 

Net deferred revenue additions (reductions)   11,373    (340)

Transferred from infrastructure deposits   1,773   8,992 

Amortization of deferred revenue   (6,213)   (6,138)

  203,167   196,234 

Less: Current portion of deferred revenue   (6,339)   (6,518)

Non-current balance, end of the year $ 196,828 $ 189,716 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Infrastructure deposits

Balance, beginning of the year $ 4,140 $ 5,390 

Customer contributions received/receivable   574   9,349 

Refund of deposits   (2,271)   (390)

Transferred to deferred revenue   (1,773)   (8,992)

Recognized as project management revenue   (670)   (1,217)

Balance, end of the year $ — $ 4,140 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Balance, beginning of the year $ 1,254 $ 1,516 

Provisions removed during the year   (360)   — 

Settlements during the year   (196)   (251)

Provisions increased (reversed) during the year   46   (96)

Unwinding of the discount on provisions   64   85 

  808   1,254 

Less: Current portion of provisions   (190)   (242)

Non-current balance, end of the year $ 618 $ 1,012 

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)



84 SuCCeeDING FINANCIALLY

16. Long-term debt

  By Order-in-Council 171/2014, SaskWater is authorized to borrow up to $100 million (March 31, 2017 – $100 million). All of the above loans are payable 
to the Province of Saskatchewan’s GRF with interest payable semi-annually. The Corporation’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk related to 
long-term debt is disclosed in Note 22.

  Long-term debt repayments in each of the next five years are as follows:

  Under conditions attached to certain advances from the Province of Saskatchewan the Corporation is required to pay annually, into debt retirement 
funds administered by the Saskatchewan Ministry of Finance, amounts at least equal to 1% of certain debt outstanding (Note 9).

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Date of
Maturity

Coupon 
Rate 

(per cent)

Effective 
Rate 

(per cent)

Outstanding 
Amount

Effective 
Rate 

(per cent)

Outstanding 
Amount

11-May-17       —       — $ —   4.46 $ 2,600 

3-Mar-18       —       —   —   4.45    5,000 

1-Sep-19   4.16   4.16    4,500   4.16    4,500 

1-Mar-20   4.14   4.14    5,093   4.14    5,093 

1-Dec-21   2.96   2.96    3,900   2.96    3,900 

1-Mar-24   5.32   5.32    2,100   5.32    2,100 

10-Apr-25   5.05   5.05    1,700   5.05    1,700 

2-Jun-27   2.65   2.753    5,000   2.753    5,000 

3-Dec-30   4.32   4.32    9,000   4.32    9,000 

12-Dec-35   3.29   3.29    2,407   3.29    2,407 

10-Jan-36   3.18   3.18    2,400   3.18    2,400 

3-Nov-36   2.94   2.94    4,575   2.94    4,575 

1-Mar-41   3.29   3.29    10,718   3.29    10,718 

10-Apr-37   3.20   3.20    2,800   —

11-May-37   3.02   3.02    2,600   —

3-Mar-38   3.15   3.15    5,000   —

1-Mar-41   3.16   3.16    4,600   —

   66,393    58,993 

Less: Current portion of long-term debt   —    (7,600)

$ 66,393 $ 51,393 

2018/19 $ —

2019/20   9,593 

2020/21   —

2021/22   3,900 

2022/23   —

Thereafter   52,900 

$ 66,393 
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17. Employee benefits

a) Defined benefit retiring allowance plan

  The amounts related to the defined benefit retiring allowance plan for executive, management employees and members of the UNIFOR Union are as follows:

  An actuarial assessment is required to be completed each calendar year as at December 31 in conjunction with reporting requirements of the plan. 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Corporation’s annual accrued benefit liability are:

  The discount rate has been determined using the most recent information available on corporate bond market yields whose duration approximates 
the duration of the liabilities.

b) Defined contribution pension plan

  The Corporation’s employees participated in the Public Employees Pension Plan (the Plan), a defined contribution pension plan. The Corporation’s 
contributions to the Plan include making regular payments into the Plan equal to 160% of the required amounts contributed by employees for current 
service. The total amount paid to the Plan for the year ended March 31, 2018 was $839 (year ended March 31, 2017 – $778).

18. Equity advance and capital disclosure

  The Corporation does not have share capital. However, the Corporation has received advances from CIC to form its equity capitalization. The 
advances reflect an equity investment in the Corporation by CIC.

  The Corporation's debt management plan is built on the goal of ensuring the capacity to meet long term obligations and ensuring financial health, 
while achieving the growth plans of the Corporation.

  As a Crown corporation, SaskWater receives its long-term capital funding primarily from the Saskatchewan Ministry of Finance. SaskWater also has 
access to a $30 million line of credit.

  The Corporation’s capital consists of notes payable, long-term debt and equity, less debt retirement funds.

  The Corporation has complied with all externally imposed restrictions on its debt for the year ended March 31, 2018.

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ 479 $ 470 

Expenses    (6)    15 

Actuarial losses (gains)    51    (6)

Balance, end of year $ 524 $ 479 

Discount rate 2.90% 3.60%

Inflation rate 2.25% 2.25%

Average remaining service life 12.1 years 11.8 years

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Gross long-term debt $ 66,393 $ 58,993 

Notes payable    5,000    7,200 

Debt retirement funds    (12,387)    (16,502)

Net debt    59,006    49,691 

Total equity    67,662    61,471 

Capitalization $ 126,668 $ 111,162 

Debt ratio 46.6% 44.7%
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19. Operating leases

  Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

  The Corporation leases a number of vehicles, office equipment and five office facilities under operating leases. During the year ended March 31, 2018 
an amount of $1,096 (year ended March 31, 2017 – $1,019) was recognized as an expense in net income with respect to operating leases.

20. Commitments and contingencies

a) Contractual commitments

  As of March 31, 2018, the Corporation has outstanding commitments of $23,126 (March 31, 2017 – $8,123) for construction contracts and consulting 
agreements primarily relating to assets under construction and other service contracts.

b) Litigation

  The Corporation has provided, in its accounts, for any known claims from lawsuits or other legal proceedings for which there is material risk of 
liability to the Corporation in accordance with management’s best estimates and the advice received from legal counsel. The Corporation intends to 
account for any differences which may arise between amounts provided and amounts expended in the period in which the claims are resolved.

21. Related party transactions

a) related parties

  Included in these financial statements are transactions with various Saskatchewan Crown corporations, ministries, agencies, boards and 
commissions related to the Corporation by virtue of common control by the Government of Saskatchewan and non-Crown corporations and 
enterprises subject to joint control and significant influence by the Government of Saskatchewan (collectively referred to as “related parties”).  
The Corporation has elected to take partial exemption under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures which allows government related entities to limit  
the extent of disclosures about related party transactions with government and other government related entities.

  Routine operating transactions with related parties are settled at prevailing market prices under normal trade terms. The Corporation also pays 
Saskatchewan provincial sales tax on all its taxable purchases to the Saskatchewan Ministry of Finance. Taxes paid are recorded as part of the  
cost of those purchases.

b) Compensation of key management personnel

  Key management personnel include the President and Vice President positions. The compensation related to key management for employee services 
is shown below:

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Less than one year $ 688 $ 607 

Between one and five years    749    547 

More than five years   —   —

$ 1,437 $ 1,154 

March 31 
2018

March 31 
 2017

Salaries, wages and short-term employee benefits $ 627 $ 633 

Post-employment benefits    45    43 

$ 672 $ 676
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22. Financial instruments and risk management

a) Fair values

  Fair values are the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. Fair values are estimates using present value and other valuation techniques which are significantly affected by the 
assumptions used concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and discount rates that reflect varying degrees of risk. 
Therefore, due to the use of judgment and future-oriented information, aggregate fair value amounts should not be interpreted as being realizable in 
an immediate settlement of the instruments.

  The following summarizes the classification, carrying amounts and fair values of the Corporation’s financial instruments:

 1 Classification details are as follows: 
  FVTPL - Fair value through profit and loss 

AC - Amortized cost 
FVOCI - Fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) 
OL - Other liabilities

 2 Fair values are determined using a fair value hierarchy as follows: 
  Level 1 – Where quoted prices are readily available from an active market. 

 Level 2 – Valuation model not using quoted prices, but still using predominantly observable market inputs, such as market interest rates. 
 Level 3 – Valuation for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 
 Not applicable (N/A) – Financial instruments that are carried at values which approximate fair value.

 3 Trade and other receivables were categorized as loans and receivables under IAS 39. Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Corporation recognized a reduction 
of $6 in expected credit losses related to these assets. The revised carrying value as at April 1, 2017 was $6,802.

 4 Debt retirement funds categorized as FVTPL under IAS 39 have been reclassified as debt instruments at FVOCI under IFRS 9. As such, the $179 gain in 
market value related to these debt instruments has been recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, $316 in debt retirement fund 
earnings (interest revenue) has been recognized in finance income in profit or loss.

b) Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market price. Debt 
retirement funds are monies set aside to retire outstanding debt upon maturity. The Corporation is required to pay annually into debt retirement 
funds which are held and invested by the Saskatchewan Ministry of Finance. The impact of fluctuations in market prices related to these investments 
will not be significant, therefore management has not provided a sensitivity analysis of the impact.

  The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk on the maturity of its long-term debt. However, in the current low interest rate environment, these 
risks are considered low. Interest rate risk on these expected future borrowings are managed, based on the refinancing needs of the Corporation, 
using derivative financial instruments when deemed appropriate. The Corporation had no derivative financial instruments in place to offset interest 
rate risk as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017. The change in rate would have no impact on net income due to classification of long-term debt as 
other liabilities.

March 31, 2018 
Asset (Liability)

March 31, 2017 
Asset (Liability)

Financial instruments Classification1 Level2 Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value

Financial assets

Cash FVTPL 1 $ 6,758 $ 6,758 $ 4,147 $ 4,147 

Trade and other receivables3 AC N/A    9,761    9,761    6,796    6,796 

Debt retirement funds4 FVOCI 2    12,387    12,387    16,502    16,502 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables OL N/A    (7,632)    (7,632)    (7,868)    (7,868)

Notes payable OL N/A    (5,000)    (5,000)    (7,200)    (7,200)

Dividends payable OL N/A    (664)    (664)    (440)    (440)

Infrastructure deposits OL N/A   —   —    (4,140)    (4,140)

Long-term debt OL 2    (66,393)    (69,551)    (58,993)    (61,357)

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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 22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

c) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet its financial commitments as they become due. SaskWater manages the Corporation’s 
cash resources based on financial forecasts and anticipated cash flows. The following summarizes the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s 
financial liabilities:

  Future cash flows from operations and availability under existing credit facilities will be adequate to support these financial liabilities.

March 31, 2018
6 months 

or less
7 – 12 

months
Subsequent 

1 Year
Subsequent 

3 – 5 years
More than 

5 years

Trade and other payables $ 7,632 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Notes payable    5,000   —   —   —   —

Dividends payable    664   —   —   —   —

Long-term debt    1,173    1,173    11,845    9,628    74,602 

$ 14,469 $ 1,173 $ 11,845 $ 9,628 $ 74,602 

March 31, 2017
6 months 

or less
7 – 12 

months
Subsequent 

1 Year
Subsequent 

3 – 5 years
More than 

5 years

Trade and other payables $ 7,868 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Notes payable    7,200   —   —   —   —

Dividends payable    440   —   —   —   —

Long-term debt   3,707    6,048    1,875    18,228    53,547 

$ 19,215 $ 6,048 $ 1,875 $ 18,228 $ 53,547 

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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 22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

d) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk that one party to a transaction will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. 
Concentrations of credit risk relate to groups of customers or counterparties that have similar economic or industry characteristics that cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions.

  The Corporation is not exposed to a significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum credit risk to which the Corporation is exposed as at the 
following dates, is limited to the fair value of the financial assets recognized as follows:

  Provisions for credit losses are maintained and regularly reviewed by the Corporation based on an lifetime expected credit losses. Historically, the 
Corporation has not written-off a significant portion of its accounts receivable balances. At March 31, 2018, the Corporation had a balance of $68 
(March 31, 2017 – $75) recorded in the allowance for doubtful accounts.

  Debt retirement funds are on deposit with, and being administered by, the Saskatchewan Ministry of Finance. At March 31, 2018, the Ministry has 
invested these funds primarily in Provincial government and Federal government bonds with varying maturities to coincide with related long-
term debt maturities and are managed based on this maturity profile and market conditions. As such, the related credit risk associated with these 
investments as at March 31, 2018, is considered low.

23. Comparative amounts

  The Corporation has reclassified certain amounts previously reported to conform with the current year’s presentation.

March 31 
 2018

March 31 
 2017

Cash $ 6,758 $ 4,147 

Trade receivables

Current    5,273    5,313 

31 – 60 days    70    165 

61 – 90 days   —    39 

91 – 180 days    94    74 

Over 180 days    78    58 

 Subtotal    5,515    5,649 

Allowance    (68)    (75)

   5,447    5,574 

Accrued and other receivables    4,314    1,222 

Debt retirement funds    12,387    16,502 

$ 28,906 $ 27,445 

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(thousands of dollars)
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Corporate governance is generally accepted as the set 

of processes, customs, policies, laws and institutions 

that affect how a corporation is directed, administered 

or controlled. Corporate governance includes the 

relationships among the stakeholders and the goals for 

which the corporation is governed. Effective corporate 

governance results in a well-run, high-performing and 

transparent organization, accountable to the public 

it serves. The shareholder, board of directors and 

management are instrumental in achieving effective 

corporate governance.

A VISIoN For ALL CroWN CorPorAtIoNS

SaskWater shares in the vision that the provincial 

government has defined for the Crown sector. This vision 

is for “a secure and prosperous Saskatchewan, leading 

the country in economic and population growth, while 

providing a high quality of life for all.”

CroWN CorPorAtIoN StruCture

SaskWater is a statutory Crown corporation governed 

by The Saskatchewan Water Corporation Act, 2002, 

and is subject to the provisions of The Crown 

Corporations Act, 1993.

Crown Investments Corporation of Saskatchewan (CIC) is 

the Province of Saskatchewan’s holding company for its 

commercial Crown corporations, including SaskWater.
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roLeS AND reSPoNSIbILItIeS

The Government of Saskatchewan 

represents the public’s interests and 

sets the vision for the Crown sector. 

Government approves and rescinds 

Crown Board appointments.

The CIC Board sets strategic direction 

for the Crown sector, sets public 

policy expectations, approves 

performance standards, allocates 

capital, and monitors and evaluates 

the Crown corporations’ performance 

throughout the year.

The Minister Responsible for SaskWater 

keeps informed of Crown activities 

and functions as the communication 

channel between the Crown 

corporation and its stakeholders, 

including government, the legislature 

and the public.

CIC develops policy on Crown 

corporations and communicates 

and monitors strategic shareholder 

direction and policy to the corporation.

SaskWater’s Board oversees the overall 

direction of the business activities 

of the corporation to achieve the 

performance targets and is responsible 

for the approval and implementation 

of the corporation’s strategic plan and 

performance plan.

DIreCtIoN to tHe CroWN SeCtor

The CIC Board provides direction to 

SaskWater that is reflected in our 

strategic, business and operational 

plans. CIC priorities include:

• customer focus to provide the best 

possible service that is high quality, 

accessible and affordable

• infrastructure for economic 

development in Saskatchewan

• development of an effective 

workforce while striving to contain 

growth in the workforce

• financial and fiscal sustainability

CIC also provides direction to SaskWater  

for such things as programs, reporting 

processes and procedures, policies and 

administrative or legislative matters.

Source: Crown Sector Strategic Plan

boArD oF DIreCtorS

The SaskWater Board of Directors 

terms of reference state that the 

Board will have a minimum of three  (3) 

members and a maximum of ten  (10). 

As of November 23, 2017, the SaskWater 

Board consisted of nine  (9) independent 

directors. All are appointed for a set 

term by the Lieutenant Governor in 

Council, who also designates the Chair 

and Vice Chair.

reSPoNSIbILItIeS AND DutIeS

The Board is responsible for SaskWater’s 

stewardship while fostering success 

consistent with SaskWater’s mandate. 

The Board works with management to 

oversee corporate operations, including:

• setting corporate direction

• guiding strategic planning processes

• executing performance evaluations

• annual and quarterly monitoring and 

reporting functions

• assisting in business plan 

development and approval

• monitoring processes and 

systems used to achieve 

sustainable operations

The SaskWater Board of Directors met 

seven (7) times in 2017–18.

CoMMItteeS

In 2017–18, the Board had two (2) 

standing committees to undertake 

detailed reviews and provide in-depth 

supervision in key areas of responsibility.

The Committees of the Board were:

• Audit and Finance, and

• Governance and 

Corporate Responsibility

Audit and Finance Committee – held 

six  (6) meetings in 2017–18

Members: Don Atchison (Chair),  

Patricia Hughes, Richard Porter,  

Glenda Whalen

The Audit and Finance Committee 

helps the Board fulfill its financial 

accountability by:

• overseeing the corporation’s budget, 

financial operations and results

• reviewing internal controls  

established by management  

and the Board

• participating in internal and external 

audit processes

• monitoring the adequacy and 

condition of capital assets

• reviewing and making 

recommendations on capital activities
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• ensuring appropriate systems are in 

place to identify and manage risk

Governance and Corporate Responsibility  

Committee – held five (5) meetings  

in 2017–18

Members: Michael Gering (Chair),  

Bill Hutchinson, Gwyn Tremblay,  

Linda Jijian

The Governance and Corporate 

Responsibility Committee reviews and 

maintains SaskWater’s governance 

practices and oversees the Board’s 

nominating and governance 

activities, including:

• evaluating the performance of Board 

committees, Board Chair, individual 

directors and the President/CEO

• recommending Board and Committee 

structure, composition and mandate

• ensuring Board orientation and 

opportunities for professional  

development

• articulating the roles and 

responsibilities of the Board

• overseeing compensation policies and 

collective bargaining mandate

GoVerNANCe PrACtICeS

In substantial alignment with current 

industry best practices, SaskWater’s 

approach to corporate governance 

is consistent with the Canadian 

Securities Administrators’ (CSA) 

Corporate Governance Guidelines and 

Disclosure Practices. These guidelines 

address areas of responsibility for 

effective corporate governance, 

including responsibility for stewardship 

of the corporation, the Board’s role, 

and ensuring proper function of the 

Board, while maintaining its fiduciary 

obligation to the corporation.

SaskWater’s corporate governance 

practices are benchmarked against 

CSA’s Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Board Chair Resigns After a Decade of Service

On November 23, 2017, SaskWater 

bid farewell to Gary Vidal, a long-

standing member and Chair of the 

Board of Directors, after nearly 10 

years of service.

“Gary’s leadership, advice and support  

were integral to the success of this 

corporation,” said Doug Matthies, 

SaskWater President. “His approach 

helped foster positive working 

relationships and strong bonds 

between Board members and 

employees, and he was a strong 

advocate for growing communities 

and the provincial economy.”

As Mayor of Meadow Lake and 

a partner in the accounting 

firm Pliska Vidal & Co., Vidal’s 

leadership abilities and financial 

background enabled a financial 

turnaround of the corporation, 

leading to nine successive years of 

profitable earnings – amounting to 

approximately $36 million and an 

increase in revenues of 275 per cent –  

during his tenure.

The confidence of his colleagues 

was reflected in the various roles he 

held over the years, including Chair 

of the Governance and Corporate 

Responsibility Committee (twice), 

Chair of the Audit and Finance 

Committee and ultimately, Chair of 

the Board in 2015.

“on behalf of the board of Directors and everyone at SaskWater, I 

express my gratitude and appreciation to Gary for his many years 

of dedicated service and quality leadership,” said Silvia Martini, 

board Chair. “We look forward to supporting the strong and 

positive legacy he has left with us at SaskWater.”
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Chair, Silvia Martini
Saskatoon

Silvia Martini is Vice President of 

Interlink Research, Inc. With over 35 

years of entrepreneurship and leadership 

success serving numerous community 

organizations, she most recently 

completed five years on the Board of the 

Greater Saskatoon Chamber of Commerce 

and is past President of The Word On The 

Street Festival in Saskatoon. Described 

as a “thought leader,” Silvia is a staunch 

advocate for Saskatchewan’s leadership 

potential in sustainable economic and 

community development.

Silvia is a graduate of the Edwards School 

of Business (EBAC), and obtained her 

Chartered Director (C. Dir.) designation 

from the Directors College. She is 

the recipient of a number of awards, 

including the Raj Manek 2016 Above 

and Beyond Award.

Prior to her appointment as Chair, Silvia 

served as Vice-Chair of the Board and 

Chair of the Governance and Corporate 

Responsibility Committee.

Vice Chair, Michael Gering
Swift Current

Michael Gering is President and CEO of 

Diamond Energy Services in Swift Current, 

a company he founded in 1996. He has 

worked in the oilfield industry since 1985.

Michael and his wife are long-time 

residents of Swift Current. Over the 

years, Michael has supported his 

community with involvement in Swift 

Current Minor Hockey and the South 

Saskatchewan Female Hockey League 

as well as participation on numerous 

other community and fundraising 

committees. Since September 2014, he 

has served on the Great Plains College 

Board of Directors.

Michael is currently enrolled in the Johnson 

and Shoyama Board Governance Program.

Michael serves as Chair of the Governance 

and Corporate Responsibility Committee.

Glenda Whalen
Qu’Appelle

Glenda Whalen is a small business owner 

in Saskatchewan. After many years 

working in the field of education, she 

pursued her Bachelor of Fine Arts Degree 

at the University of Regina, graduating 

with distinction, and was employed as a 

contracted designer.

Serving her community is a high priority 

for Glenda. She is currently serving as 

the Vice-Chairman for the Qu’Appelle 

Library Board and Lioness Club. She also 

actively volunteered with the James 

Hamblin School Council, Qu’Appelle 

Soccer Association (founding member), 

Qu’Appelle Lioness Club, Indian Head 

Broncs Football and Chiefs Hockey. 

Glenda and her husband are owners and 

operators of a cattle and grain farm in 

the RM of South Qu’Appelle.

Glenda obtained her Chartered Director  

(C. Dir.) designation from the 

Directors College.

Gwyn Tremblay
regina

Gwyn Tremblay has extensive leadership, 

sales and marketing management experience 

working with global customers to promote 

and move Saskatchewan products.

Gwyn worked with CN Rail where she 

was the Overseas National Account 

Manager for Specialty Crops, promoting 

great Saskatchewan companies in feeding 

the world. From there, she became the 

Executive Director of SOFIA House, a 

second-stage transition home based in 

Regina for victims of domestic conflict. 

Gwyn saw a use for her business acumen 

in the not-for-profit corporate sector, 

aiding Saskatchewan communities.

In 2017, Gwyn completed her MBA with 

specialization in Marketing from the 

Australian Institute of Business. In 2018, 

she completed the Rotman School of 

Management’s Directors Education 

Program (ICD.D).

Don Atchison
Saskatoon

Don Atchison is a senior business 

development coordinator for Canwest 

Commercial and Land Corporation.

Don was involved in Saskatoon City 

Council for almost a quarter of a 

century; his 13 years as mayor make 

him the longest-serving mayor in the 

City’s history.

Don was named a Paul Harris Fellow 

by the Rotary Foundation of Rotary 

International; awarded the Medal of 

Merit by the International Association of 

Lions Clubs, the Consumer Choice “Man 

of the Year” Award, and the Canadian 

Sport Tourism Alliance President’s Award 

for Public Sector Supporter; recognized 

as an Ambassador for Saskatoon & 

Region Home Builders’ Association 

and recognized by the Saskatoon 

Police Service.

Don serves as Chair of the Board’s Audit 

and Finance Committee.

Patricia Hughes
Prince Albert

Patricia Hughes heads up Business 

Development and Marketing with 

Transwest Air. She also continues to farm 

with her family in Tisdale. Patricia and her 

husband, Brad, reside in Prince Albert with 

their two sons.

Patricia currently serves as Chair of 

Community Futures Saskatchewan and 

was recently reappointed as a Director 

to her local Community Futures Board. 

She is also a Director with Pan West for 

Community Futures and continues to 

represent her community as a Director 

for the Prince Albert Police Commission.

Patricia is very active in her community 

with many fundraising initiatives that 

support local community organizations.

Board of Directors
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Richard Porter
Warman

Richard Porter is the owner and CEO of 

Shellbrook Crushing, Shellbrook Trucking 

and several related businesses. Richard 

has gained a wealth of knowledge and 

experience as an employer dealing with 

large staffs and government contracts. 

He has a good working knowledge of 

both sides, as employer and employee.

Community involvement is a large part 

of Richard’s life and over the years he 

has been very active with the Kinsmen 

Club, Telemiracle and as Chair of the 

Parkland School Division Board. He 

was a councillor in the RM of Canwood 

for 10 years and served as Reeve 

for four years.

Richard has sat on and chaired several 

committees, including the fundraising 

committee for the Parkland Integrated 

Health Centre in Shellbrook.

Bill Hutchinson
regina

Bill Hutchinson’s career in the private 

and public sectors spans four decades. 

Highlights include building a successful 

architectural practice, four terms as a 

member of Regina City Council, and two 

terms as a member of Saskatchewan’s 

Legislative Assembly.

As a City Councillor, Bill chaired the 

Regina Planning Commission and served 

on the Regina Regional Economic 

Development Authority, the Board 

of Police Commissioners, and the 

Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities 

Association. While an MLA, he was 

Minister of Municipal Affairs, Minister 

of First Nations and Metis Relations, 

and Minister of Tourism, Parks, 

Culture and Sport.

Volunteer activity has included service on 

more than 20 community and provincial 

boards, notably SIAST (now Saskatchewan 

Polytechnic), SaskBuilds, and the 

University of Regina Senate.

Linda Jijian
regina

Linda Jijian is currently Manager 

of Governance and Compliance at 

SaskCentral in Regina. Her experience 

includes research and development, 

wealth management, workshop 

facilitation, and strategic positioning  

and planning. Her current role supports 

credit unions in meeting their federal 

and provincial legislative and regulatory 

obligations in the areas of governance 

and compliance. Linda also assumes the 

role of provincial Ombudsman as part of 

the provincial government’s consumer 

protection directive.

Linda received her Chartered Financial 

Planner (CFP) designation, a degree in 

Administration, and her ProDir Certification 

through the Johnson Shoyama Graduate 

School of Public Policy and Brown 

Governance. She also completed the 

academic requirements for the Directors 

Education Program offered by the 

Institute of Corporate Directors.

Linda recently was a Board member with 

the Regina Qu’Appelle Health Region, 

Chaired the Policy and Governance 

Committee and was a member of the 

Quality and Safety Committee.
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CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

CoMPoSItIoN oF tHe boArD

NP 58-201, section 3.1

 3.1  The board should have a majority 
of independent directors.

All directors on the SaskWater Board (9 out of 9) are independent. Yes

NI 58-101F1, sections 1(a) to (d)

 1 (a)  Disclose the identity of directors 
who are independent;

 (b)  Disclose the identity of directors 
who are not independent and the 
basis for that determination;

 (c)  Disclose whether the majority of 
directors are independent; and

 (d)  Disclose whether a director is a 
director of any other issuer that is 
a reporting issuer.

Silvia Martini, Chair: INDEPENDENT1

– Vice President of Interlink Research, Inc.

Gary Vidal, Chair: INDEPENDENT1

– Partner – Pliska Vidal & Co

Don Atchison: INDEPENDENT

– Business Development Coordinator, Canwest Commercial and 
Land Corporation

Patricia Hughes: INDEPENDENT

– Business Development Manager, TransWest

Bill Hutchinson: INDEPENDENT

– Owner/CEO, Bill Hutchinson Consulting

Linda Jijian: INDEPENDENT

– Manager of Governance and Compliance, SaskCentral

Michael Gering: INDEPENDENT

– President – Diamond Energy Services Inc.

Richard Porter: INDEPENDENT

– Owner/CEO, Shellbrook Crushing and Shellbrook Trucking

Gwyn Tremblay: INDEPENDENT

– Executive Director, Sofia House

Glenda Whalen: INDEPENDENT

– Small business owner

The determination of independence is made by the Governance 
and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and is based on an 
assessment of the requirements in Multilateral Instrument 52-110, 
Audit Committees.

Section 1(d) does not apply to SaskWater as SaskWater does not have 
share capital, and is not an issuer.
1 Silvia Martini was appointed as Chair November 23, 2017, as Gary Vidal 
resigned from the Board of Directors effective November 23, 2017.

Yes

NP 58-201, section 3.2

 3.2  The chair of the board should 
be an independent director who 
is the effective leader of the 
board and who ensures that the 
board’s agenda will enable it to 
successfully carry out its duties.

The Chair of the Board is an independent director who provides 
leadership in Board organization, processes, effectiveness and 
renewal, serves as liaison between the Board and the shareholder 
and ensures Board agendas reflect an effective balance between the 
role of the Board and that of management.

Yes
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CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

NI 58-101F1, section 1(f)

 1 (f)  Disclose whether the chair of the 
board is an independent director; 
disclose the identity of the chair 
and describe the role of the chair.

Silvia Martini is the Chair of the Board and she is an independent 
director. The Chair reports to the Board and ultimately to the 
shareholder and is responsible for presiding over meetings of the 
board and ensuring that the board discharges its fiduciary and legal 
responsibilities. The Chair’s primary duties include:

• chairing meetings of the Board and ensuring meetings are 
properly convened and business is conducted legally

• working with the CEO and the Corporate Secretary to set 
Board meeting schedules and establish agendas

• monitoring meeting attendance and encouraging full 
participation by directors at meetings

• communicating with directors between meetings

• taking a lead role in assessing and addressing any concerns 
related to Board, committee or director performance

• assisting directors to achieve full utilization of 
individual abilities

• promoting an open and constructive working relationship 
between senior management and the Board

• working with committee chairs to maintain effective 
communications and division of responsibilities

• providing advice and counsel to the CEO and 
senior management

• representing the shareholder’s interests and perspective 
to management, and representing management’s views to 
the shareholder

• in conjunction with the CEO, developing productive 
relationships and representing the corporation with the 
shareholder and key stakeholders

Yes

MEETINGS OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

NP 58-201, section 3.3

 3.3  The independent directors should 
hold regularly scheduled meetings 
at which non-independent directors 
and members of management 
are not present.

As a Standing Agenda item, the Board holds an in-camera session 
without management present at each regular meeting of the Board. 
All directors participate in the sessions, except where a director has 
a conflict with an item under discussion.

Yes
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CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

NI 58-101F1, section 1(e)

 1 (e)  Disclose whether the independent 
directors hold regularly scheduled 
meetings at which members of 
management are not present; 
disclose the number of such 
meetings held in the previous 
12 months; if such meetings 
are not held, disclose what the 
board does to facilitate open 
and candid discussion among 
independent directors.

There were seven (7) Board meetings held in 2017–18, and during six 
regular meetings, in-camera sessions without management present 
but including all directors were held.

Board practices that facilitate open and candid discussion and 
independent judgment by directors include:

• holding in-camera sessions of no fixed duration where 
directors are encouraged to raise any issues of concern

• having an independent director as Chair of the Board

• clearly delineating the division of responsibilities between 
Board and management

• providing for the Board/directors to access external advice

The Board is satisfied that its governance practices foster full and 
open discussion and debate and that it retains the independence of 
mind to make decisions in the best interests of the corporation and 
the shareholder.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, section 1(g)

 1 (g)  Disclose the attendance record 
of each director for board 
meetings held in the most recently 
completed financial year.

The Board held seven (7) meetings in 2017–18. The number of Board 
meetings attended by each director in 2017–18 is set out below.

 Director Meetings Attended*

 Silvia Martini, Chair 7(7)**

 Gary Vidal, Chair1 4(5)

 Don Atchison 7(7)

 Michael Gering 6(7)

 Patricia Hughes 7(7)

 Bill Hutchinson 7(7)

 Linda Jijian 5(7)

 Richard Porter 7(7)

 Gwyn Tremblay 6(7)

 Glenda Whalen 7(7)
1 Resigned from the Board of Directors November 23, 2017.

* For the purposes of this report, members who attended meetings in part 
were considered to be present.

** Figures in brackets represent the maximum number of meetings for the 
period in which the individual was a Board member.

Yes
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CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

BOARD MANDATE

NP 58-201, section 3.4

 3.4  The board should adopt a 
written mandate which explicitly 
acknowledges responsibility for the 
stewardship of the corporation and 
responsibility for:

  (a)  to the extent possible, 
satisfying itself as to the 
integrity of the CEO and 
executive and that they have 
created a culture of integrity 
throughout the organization;

  (b)  adopting a strategic planning 
process and approving at least 
annually a strategic plan, which 
takes into account, among 
other things, the opportunities 
and risks of the business;

  (c)  identification of the principal 
risks of the corporation’s 
business and ensuring the 
implementation of appropriate 
systems to manage these risks;

  (d)  succession planning, including 
appointing, training and 
monitoring senior management;

  (e)  adopting a communications 
policy for the corporation;

  (f)  the integrity of the 
corporation’s internal 
control and management 
information systems; and

  (g)  developing the corporation’s 
approach to corporate 
governance, including a set 
of principles and guidelines 
specific to the corporation.

The written mandate should also address 
measures for receiving feedback from 
stakeholders (for example, a process for 
stakeholders to contact independent 
directors); and the expectations and 
responsibilities of directors, including 
basic duties to attend meetings and 
review materials in advance.

The Board has written Terms of Reference that contain the majority 
of the elements required by the Policy. The Terms of Reference 
outline the Board’s principal duties and responsibilities, including 
responsibility to function as stewards of the corporation and to:

• provide leadership in setting the corporation’s long-range 
strategic direction and annually approve the corporation’s 
overall strategic plan

• participate in identifying the principal risks of the business 
in which the corporation is engaged and oversee the 
implementation of appropriate systems to manage the risks

• appoint the CEO, evaluate the performance of 
senior management and ensure effective succession 
planning processes

• adopt policies and processes to enable effective  
communication with the shareholder, stakeholders  
and the public

• monitor the integrity of the corporation’s internal control and 
management information systems

The Board has approved Terms of Reference for Directors where 
the expectations and responsibilities of individual directors 
are delineated.

SaskWater regularly surveys internal and external stakeholders to 
obtain feedback about corporate activities. The Chair of the Board 
participates in a forum established by CIC, which is comprised of the 
chairs of all subsidiary Crown boards and senior CIC officials, where 
issues of mutual interest and concern are shared.

Elements of the Policy not specifically identified in the Terms of 
Reference for the Board include (a) and (g). Respecting (a), the Board 
has established practices which promote a culture of ethical business 
conduct (see discussion under section 3.8 of NP 58-201). With respect 
to (g) the Board has delegated responsibility to the Governance and 
Corporate Responsibility Committee to oversee the corporation’s 
approach to corporate governance.

Substantial 
compliance

NI 58-101F1, section 2

 2  Disclose the text of the board’s 
written mandate.

The Board’s principal responsibilities are described above. The text 
of the Board’s Terms of Reference can be obtained by contacting the 
Corporate Secretary to the Board.

Yes
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CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

POSITION DESCRIPTIONS

NP 58-201, section 3.5

 3.5  The board should: develop clear 
position descriptions for the chair 
of the board and the chair of 
each board committee; together 
with the CEO, develop a position 
description for the CEO delineating 
management’s responsibilities; 
develop or approve corporate goals 
and objectives that the CEO is 
responsible to meet.

The Board has approved Terms of Reference for the Board, 
the Chair of the Board, the Chair of each Committee, each 
Committee and individual directors and has adopted a Position 
Description for the CEO.

The CEO’s Position Description sets out the CEO’s primary 
accountabilities and responsibilities. The Board Terms of Reference 
address management duties, and a Final Authorization Policy, 
applicable to monetary and non-monetary matters, sets out 
those matters that require Board approval and delegates other 
matters to management.

The Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
annually recommends performance indicators for the corporation and 
personal goals for the CEO that are approved by the Board. The Board 
annually approves a business plan that includes corporate objectives, 
priorities and performance indicators. The CEO is responsible to see 
that the corporation achieves the business plan and to meet any 
other targets assigned by the Board.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, sections 3(a) and (b)

 3 (a)  Disclose whether the board 
has developed written position 
descriptions for the chair of 
the board and the chair of each 
board committee and, if not, 
describe how the board delineates 
the role and responsibilities of 
each such position.

 (b)  Disclose whether the board and 
CEO have developed a written 
position description for the CEO.

The Board has developed written position descriptions for the Chair 
of the Board, the Chair of each Committee and the CEO.

Yes

ORIENTATION & CONTINUING EDUCATION

NP 58-201, sections 3.6 and 3.7

 3.6  The board should ensure new 
directors receive comprehensive 
orientation and fully understand 
the role of the board and 
committees, the contribution 
individual directors are expected to 
make and the nature and operation 
of the business.

 3.7  The board should provide 
continuing education opportunities 
for all directors to enhance their 
skills and abilities and ensure their 
knowledge of the corporation’s 
business is current.

Management provides new directors with a comprehensive 
orientation to the business and the industry. CIC delivers a training 
program that focuses on the skills that directors need to do their 
jobs, effective board processes and best practices in corporate 
governance. Other development opportunities made available to 
directors are described below.

Yes
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NI 58-101F1, sections 4(a) and (b)

 4 (a)  Describe the measures taken to 
orient new directors to the role 
of the board, committees and 
directors and to the nature of the 
corporation’s business.

 (b)  Describe the measures taken to 
provide continuing education 
opportunities for all directors.

All new directors receive an orientation session delivered by 
management. The orientation session addresses key industry 
trends, critical business risks and challenges, the strategic plan, 
organizational structure and responsibilities of senior staff. New 
directors are able to meet informally with senior managers to learn 
about the business.

Each year, CIC sponsors a comprehensive education program 
for directors of CIC subsidiary Crown boards. The program has 
focused on the key roles and responsibilities of boards, committees 
and directors, the skills directors need to effectively discharge 
their responsibilities and best practices, and new developments 
in corporate governance. Directors can participate in external 
development opportunities related to their duties as directors where 
authorized by the corporation or the Board.

Yes

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

NP 58-201, section 3.8

 3.8  The board should adopt a written 
code of business conduct and 
ethics applicable to directors, 
officers and employees of the 
corporation designed to promote 
integrity and deter wrongdoing. 
The Code should address:

  (a)  conflicts of interest, including 
transactions and agreements 
where a director or officer has 
a material interest;

  (b)  protection and proper 
use of corporate assets 
and opportunities;

  (c)  confidentiality of 
corporate information;

  (d)  fair dealing with the 
corporation’s security 
holders, customers, suppliers, 
competitors and employees;

  (e)  compliance with laws, rules and 
regulations; and

  (f)  reporting of illegal or 
unethical behaviour.

Board members must comply with the Directors’ Code of Conduct, 
which was developed by CIC and applies to the directors of all its 
subsidiary Crown boards. Officers and employees of the corporation 
and its subsidiaries must comply with SaskWater’s Business 
Code of Conduct.

Both Codes are designed to promote integrity and deter 
wrongdoing, address the elements of the Policy as they apply to 
a Crown corporation and provide a mechanism to report illegal or 
unethical behaviour.

Yes
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NI 58-101F1, section 5(a)

 5 (a)  Disclose whether the board 
has adopted a written code of 
ethical business conduct for the 
directors, officers and employees 
of the corporation; how to 
obtain a copy of the Code; how 
the board monitors compliance 
with the Code; and reference any 
material change report in the 
most recent financial year relating 
to any conduct of a director 
or officer that constitutes a 
departure from the Code.

A copy of the Directors’ Code of Conduct can be obtained by 
contacting CIC.

Committees of the Board monitor compliance with the Directors’ 
Code and the Business Code. The Governance and Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee monitors compliance with corporate 
donation and sponsorship policies and is responsible to administer, 
monitor and enforce the Directors’ Code. The Chair of the Committee 
reports to the Board at each regular meeting any such issues 
addressed by the Committee, and submits an annual report to the 
Board regarding compliance with the Directors’ Code.

The Audit and Finance Committee monitors the financial performance 
of the corporation and assists the Board to meet its responsibilities 
respecting accounting and financial reporting, risk management, 
internal controls and accountability. The Committee interacts directly 
with the internal and external auditors, who report to the Committee 
concerning, among other things, any instances of illegal or improper 
treatment of corporate assets.

The Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
monitors compliance with environmental, health and safety 
and human resource programs, including compliance with 
the Business Code.

SaskWater does not have share capital and is not an issuer. 
Therefore, no material change reports have been filed.

Yes

NP 58-201, section 3.9

 3.9  The board should monitor 
compliance with the code and any 
waivers granted for the benefit of 
directors and executive officers 
should be granted by the board or 
a board committee. Any waivers 
for a material departure from the 
code for any directors or officers 
should disclose full details of the 
material change.

The Board has delegated to its Committees the responsibility to 
monitor compliance with the Codes of Conduct. The Committees 
report any issues dealt with pursuant to the Codes to the full Board.

No waivers from either Code have been granted to any director or 
officer in 2017–18.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, section 5(b)

 5 (b)  Describe steps the board takes 
to ensure directors exercise 
independent judgment in 
considering transactions and 
agreements where a director or 
officer has a material interest.

Where a director has, or may be perceived to have, a personal 
interest in a transaction being considered by the corporation, the 
director is responsible to declare any such interest at the meeting 
where the matter is considered and not to participate in discussions 
about or vote on the matter.

Management monitors agenda items to identify any issues where 
a director may have a material interest and such items are not 
distributed to the director.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, section 5(c)

 5 (c)  Describe other steps the board 
takes to encourage and promote a 
culture of ethical business conduct.

The Board encourages and promotes a culture of ethical business 
conduct by following current best practices in corporate governance. 
These practices are reinforced by open and honest discussion 
about business issues at Board meetings and at informal gatherings 
between the Board and senior management.

The Board expects management to act ethically in its business 
dealings, in accordance with all applicable legislation, the 
Business Code of Conduct and any directives or policies of the 
Board or the shareholder. Issues arising under the Business Code 
of Conduct are reported to and monitored by the Governance 
and Social Responsibility Committee and management reports to 
the Governance and Social Responsibility Committee respecting 
significant issues that have arisen pursuant to the whistle-blowing 
policy. Whistle-blowing reports may also be made directly to the 
Chair of the Governance and Social Responsibility Committee.

Yes



103

CSA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
POLICY, NP 58-201, AND DISCLOSURE 
INSTRUMENT, NI 58-101F1 (SUMMARY)

CoMMeNtS AND DISCuSSIoN
DoeS 

SASkWAter 
ALIGN?

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

NP 58-201, section 3.10

 3.10  The board should appoint a 
nominating committee composed 
of entirely independent directors.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee functions as the 
nominating committee. All four (4) members of the Governance and 
Social Responsibility Committee, including the Committee Chair, are 
independent directors.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, sections 6(a) and (b)

 6 (a)  Describe the process by which the 
board identifies new candidates for 
board nomination.

 (b)  Disclose whether the board has a 
nominating committee composed 
entirely of independent directors 
and, if not, describe the steps 
the board takes to encourage an 
objective nomination process.

Appointments of Directors of SaskWater are a decision made by 
the Government through an Order in Council. The Governance and 
Social Responsibility Committee may, through their responsibility 
as nominating committee, recommend qualified nominees to the 
SaskWater Board for consideration and to have those nominees be 
recommended for consideration to the CIC Board and ultimately 
the Government.

The Board, through the Governance and Social Responsibility 
Committee, reviews the composition and skill sets of directors 
annually with a view to maintaining an appropriate mix of expertise, 
experience and diversity on the Board to support the strategic 
direction and operating needs of the corporation.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee is responsible 
for identifying the skill sets needed on the Board, developing and 
maintaining a Skills Profile that delineates the competencies of 
current directors and identifies any skill gaps, and seeking and 
recommending to the Board nominees that have the required 
competencies to fill any identified gaps. In addition to competencies 
and skills, the appointment practices encourage diversity in the 
composition of the Board. In seeking candidates, the Committee may 
receive recommendations from the directors, senior management 
and the shareholder. Potential candidates may be interviewed to 
determine their overall fit with the needs of the Board, any conflicts 
that would preclude their effective participation and whether 
they have the time to devote to Board work. The Committee may 
recommend a list of candidates for each vacant position to the 
Board which in turn recommends a list of recommended candidates 
to the shareholder for approval. The shareholder has the legislative 
authority to make Board appointments.

The Committee believes that following best practices related to 
Board appointments, maintaining a skills matrix and recruiting 
candidates who possess the required combination of skills, 
background and diversity to add value to corporate decision-making 
supports an objective nomination process.

Substantial 
compliance

NP 58-201, section 3.11

 3.11  The nominating committee 
should have a written charter 
establishing the committee’s 
purpose, responsibilities, 
member qualifications, member 
appointment and removal, 
structure and operations 
(including any authority to 
delegate to individual directors 
or subcommittees) and manner of 
reporting to the board. In addition, 
the nominating committee should 
be given authority to engage and 
compensate outside advisors 
necessary to permit it to carry out 
its work. Where a third party has 
a legal right to nominate directors, 
the selection and nomination of 
those directors need not involve 
the approval of an independent 
nominating committee.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee has 
written Terms of Reference setting out its purpose and principal 
responsibilities, which address the Committee’s responsibility 
to lead the process of recruiting and nominating candidates for 
appointment to the Board, as well as the other elements of the 
Policy except member qualifications and the ability to delegate tasks. 
The Committee has authority to engage outside advisors to assist it 
in performing its duties, subject to the approval of the Board. The 
shareholder has the right to nominate candidates for appointment to 
the Board, and the candidates are assessed by the Governance and 
Social Responsibility Committee in the same way as other candidates.

Substantial 
compliance
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NI 58-101F1, section 6(c)

 6 (c)  If the board has a nominating 
committee, describe the 
responsibilities, powers and 
operation of the committee.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee performs the 
functions of a nominating committee, and its Terms of Reference 
describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of the Committee. 
The Committee is appointed by the Board, serves in an advisory 
capacity and makes recommendations to the Board within its area of 
responsibility. A copy of the Committee’s Terms of Reference can be 
obtained by contacting the Corporate Secretary to the Board.

Yes

NP 58-201, section 3.12

 3.12  The board should adopt a 
nomination process which 
considers the competencies and 
skills of the board as a whole; 
assesses the competencies and 
skills possessed by each existing 
director; and considers the 
personality and other qualities of 
each director. The board should 
also consider the appropriate 
size of the board, with a view to 
effective decision-making, and 
should consider the advice and 
input of the nominating committee.

The Board’s nomination process is described above, and it meets the 
guidelines of the Instrument.

As the Committee responsible for the Board’s approach to corporate 
governance, the Committee makes recommendations to promote 
timely and effective decision-making.

Yes

NP 58-201, section 3.13

 3.13  The nominating committee should 
be responsible for identifying 
individuals qualified to become 
new board members and 
recommending to the board the 
new director nominees.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee, serving as 
a nominating committee, is responsible for leading the process 
to identify, recruit and recommend qualified candidates for 
appointment to the Board.

Partial 
Compliance

NP 58-201, section 3.14

 3.14  In making its recommendations 
the nominating committee should 
consider: the competencies and 
skills that the board considers 
necessary for the board as a whole 
to possess; the competencies and 
skills of existing directors; the 
competencies and skills of each 
nominee; and whether each new 
nominee can devote sufficient time 
and resources to board work.

The process followed by the Governance and Social Responsibility 
Committee complies with that set out in the Policy and is 
described above.

Partial 
Compliance
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COMPENSATION

NP 58-201, section 3.15

 3.15  The board should appoint a 
compensation committee composed 
entirely of independent directors.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee performs the 
functions of a compensation committee. All four (4) of the members 
of the Governance and Social Responsibility Committee, including the 
Committee Chair, are independent directors.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, sections 7(a) and (b)

 7 (a)  Describe the process by which the 
board determines compensation 
for the directors and officers of 
the corporation.

 7 (b)  Disclose whether the board 
has a compensation committee 
composed entirely of independent 
directors and, if not, describe the 
steps the board takes to ensure an 
objective process for determining 
such compensation.

All members of the Governance and Social Responsibility 
Committee, which serves as the compensation committee, are 
independent directors.

CIC has the legislative authority to fix remuneration levels and 
set expense guidelines for directors. The Governance and Social 
Responsibility Committee has authority to recommend to the Board 
(and the Board to CIC) adjustments to directors’ compensation. 
The Committee receives quarterly reports respecting the 
remuneration received by members of the Board, and reports any 
anomalies to the Board.

Each director receives an annual retainer for acting as a Board 
member. The remuneration levels established by CIC for members of 
the Board are set out below.

The Board 2017–18 remuneration amounts were voluntarily reduced 
3.5% by Board motion.

A copy of CIC’s remuneration and expense guidelines for directors 
can be obtained by contacting the Corporate Secretary to the Board.

CIC has established a framework for executive compensation, and the 
Board can approve compensation packages within that framework. 
The Board has delegated responsibility for addressing and making 
recommendations concerning management compensation issues to 
the Environment & Human Resources Committee.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee reviews and 
recommends to the Board: changes to the design of the corporation’s 
overall compensation and benefits plans; management compensation 
packages that reflect industry standards; performance compensation 
programs; and annual corporate indicators, including a subset used 
to determine performance compensation for senior management. In 
discharging this function, the Committee has the ability to retain 
external advisors, subject to approval by the Board.

Yes

Director Remuneration Schedule

Board Chair Retainer $19,300.00

Board Member Retainer $13,510.00

Audit & Finance 
Committee Chair Retainer

$2,509.00

Other Committee Chair Retainer $1,930.00

Committee Member Meeting Fee $627.25
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NP 58-201, section 3.16

 3.16  The compensation committee 
should have a written charter 
establishing the committee’s 
purpose, responsibilities, 
member qualifications, member 
appointment and removal, 
structure, operations (including 
any authority to delegate 
to individual directors or 
subcommittees) and manner of 
reporting to the board. In addition, 
the compensation committee 
should be given authority to 
engage and compensate outside 
advisors necessary to permit it to 
carry out its work.

The Board has approved Terms of Reference for the Governance and 
Social Responsibility Committee, which addresses the Committee’s 
responsibilities with respect to compensation, as well as the other 
elements of the Policy except member qualifications and the 
ability to delegate tasks. The Committee has authority to engage 
outside advisors to assist it in performing its duties, subject to the 
approval of the Board.

Partial 
Compliance

NI 58-101F1, section 7(c)

 7 (c)  If the board has a compensation 
committee, describe the 
responsibilities, powers and 
operation of the committee.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee serves as the 
compensation committee, and its Terms of Reference describe the 
Committee’s responsibilities respecting compensation issues, as well 
as the powers and operation of the Committee. The Committee is 
appointed by the Board, serves in an advisory capacity and makes 
recommendations to the Board within its area of responsibility. A 
copy of the Committee’s Terms of Reference can be obtained by 
contacting the Corporate Secretary to the Board.

Yes

NP 58-201, section 3.17

 3.17  The compensation committee 
should be responsible for: 
reviewing and approving corporate 
goals and objectives relevant to 
CEO compensation, evaluating 
the CEO’s performance in light 
of those corporate goals and 
objectives, and determining 
the CEO’s compensation level 
based on the evaluation; making 
recommendations to the board 
respecting non-CEO officer and 
director compensation, incentive-
compensation plans and equity-
based plans; and reviewing 
executive compensation prior to 
public disclosure.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee annually 
recommends to the Board the CEO’s performance targets, and 
leads the annual performance evaluation process for the CEO. The 
CEO’s performance is assessed against the established corporate 
objectives and the CEO’s individual targets. The results of the 
CEO’s performance are approved by the full Board, and are used in 
determining compensation.

Respecting non-CEO officer compensation, the Committee 
is responsible for recommending to the Board management 
compensation packages, performance compensation programs and 
annual performance targets. The Board reviews and approves the 
achievement of corporate targets annually and the extent to which 
the targets are achieved determines management’s eligibility for 
performance compensation.

Executive compensation decisions are subject to any guidelines 
established by CIC. As a Crown corporation, SaskWater does not have 
equity-based (shares) plans.

Director compensation is determined by CIC.

Executive compensation information is available to the public 
through publication of Crown payee reports. The Board does review 
executive compensation reports prior to public disclosure.

Partial 
Compliance
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OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

NI 58-101F1, section 8

 8  If the board has standing 
committees of the board, other 
than audit, compensation and 
nominating committees, identify 
the committees and describe 
their function.

The Board has the Audit and Finance Committee and the Governance 
and Social Responsibility Committee.

Yes

BOARD ASSESSMENTS

NP 58-201, section 3.18

 3.18  The board, its committees and 
each individual director should be 
regularly assessed. An assessment 
should consider: with respect 
to the board or committees, its 
mandate or charter; with respect 
to an individual director, the 
applicable position description(s), 
as well as the competencies and 
skills each individual director 
brings to the board.

Board, Board Chair, Committee Chair and Committee evaluations 
as well as director peer assessments are performed annually on 
a three-year cycle, with comprehensive Board and Board Chair 
evaluations being conducted one year, Committee Chair and 
Committee evaluations being conducted the following year and 
director peer evaluations done the third year. The evaluations take 
into consideration the elements of the Policy.

In 2017–18, Committee and Committee Chair evaluations 
were conducted.

Yes

NI 58-101F1, section 9

 9  Disclose whether the board, 
its committees and individual 
directors are regularly assessed 
with respect to their effectiveness 
and contribution and, if yes, 
describe the process used.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee oversees 
the implementation of the above evaluation processes, and uses 
an external consultant in the case of director peer assessments. 
The evaluations are survey-based, using an instrument developed 
by CIC in consultation with an outside consultant and with 
Crown board members.

Board, Chair, Committee and director performance is measured 
against the duties and expectations set out in their respective Terms 
of Reference and the specific standards outlined in the evaluation 
instruments. The purpose of the evaluations is to identify areas 
where the Board, Committee, Chair or director is managing well and 
to highlight areas that may benefit by additional focus and attention.

Directors complete surveys to provide feedback in writing on the 
effectiveness and contribution of the Board, Committees, Chairs and 
individual directors. The Board Chair or a third party may follow up 
the written responses with interviews of directors to elicit additional 
concerns or suggestions for improvement.

The Governance and Social Responsibility Committee prepares 
reports outlining the evaluation results, which are submitted to the 
Board for review and approval. The Committee recommends follow-
up action required as a result of recommendations made in the 
evaluation reports, and tracks implementation of any action items.

Yes
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CSA NATIONAL POLICY 58-101 DISCLOSURE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

 10  Disclose whether or not the issuer 
has adopted term limits for the 
directors on its board or other 
mechanisms of board renewal 
and, if so, include a description of 
those director term limits or other 
mechanisms of board renewal. If 
the issuer has not adopted director 
term limits or other mechanisms 
of board renewal, disclose why it 
has not done so.

The appointment and removal of directors is the prerogative of the 
Lieutenant Governor in Council pursuant to The Saskatchewan Water 
Corporation Act. Director appointments are not subject to term limits.

No

 11 (a)  Disclose whether the issuer has 
adopted a written policy relating to 
the identification and nomination 
of women directors. If the issuer 
has not adopted such a policy, 
disclose why it has not done so.

CIC has a written “Board of Directors’ Appointment Policy”. While 
the policy does not specifically refer to the identification and 
nomination of women directors, it requires Crown boards to include 
“diversity candidates”. The term “diversity candidates” is not defined 
but it is interpreted as including women, Aboriginal persons, and 
visible minorities.

Partial 
Compliance

 (b)  If an issuer has adopted a policy 
referred to in (a), disclose the 
following in respect of the policy:

  i  a short summary of its 
objectives and key provisions;

  ii  the measures taken to ensure 
that the policy has been 
effectively implemented;

  iii  annual and cumulative progress 
by the issuer in achieving the 
objectives of the policy; and

  iv  whether and, if so, how the 
board or its nominating 
committee measures the 
effectiveness of the policy.

CIC maintains statistics regarding diversity of each Crown board, 
including progress made in the percentage of women serving on 
Crown boards. Annually, CIC forwards information to the shareholder 
to be considered when Board appointment decisions are made. 
The information includes the skill sets required for the Board and 
diversity statistics.

As of March 31, 2018, the Board was comprised of five (5) women out 
of a total of nine (9) members (56%).

Partial 
Compliance

 12  Disclose whether and, if so, 
how the board or nominating 
committee considers the level 
of representation of women on 
the board in identifying and 
nominating candidates for election 
or re-election to the board. If 
the issuer does not consider the 
level of representation of women 
on the board in identifying and 
nominating candidates for election 
or re-election to the board, 
disclose the issuer’s reasons 
for not doing so.

It is the responsibility of Executive Council to consider the level of 
representation of women on the Board.

Partial 
Compliance
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 13  Disclose whether and, if so, how 
the issuer considers the level 
of representation of women 
in executive officer positions 
when making executive officer 
appointments. If the issuer does  
not consider the level of 
representation of women in 
executive officer positions 
when making executive officer 
appointments, disclose the issuer’s 
reasons for not doing so.

Executive Officer appointments are made by the CEO in consultation 
with the Board. The CEO gives consideration to the level of 
representation of women in Executive Officer positions, along with 
other relevant factors, when making Executive Officer appointments.

Yes

 14 (a)  For purposes of this Item, a “target”  
means a number or percentage, or 
a range of numbers or percentages, 
adopted by the issuer of women on 
the issuer’s board or in executive 
officer positions of the issuer by 
a specific date.

 (b)  Disclose whether the issuer has 
adopted a target regarding women 
on the issuer’s board. If the issuer 
has not adopted a target, disclose 
why it has not done so.

Although the CIC policy requires Crown boards to include “diversity 
candidates”, the CIC policy does not adopt a specific target for 
representation of women on the Board.

No

 (c)  Disclose whether the issuer has 
adopted a target regarding women 
in executive officer positions of 
the issuer. If the issuer has not 
adopted a target, disclose why it 
has not done so.

 (d)  If the issuer has adopted a 
target referred to in either (b) 
or (c), disclose:

  i  the target; and

  ii  the annual and cumulative 
progress of the issuer in 
achieving the target.

SaskWater does not currently have a target regarding women in 
Executive Officer positions.

No

 15 (a)  Disclose the number and 
proportion (in percentage terms) 
of directors on the issuer’s 
board who are women.

The Board is currently comprised of nine (9) members, five (5) of 
which are women (56%).

Yes

 (b)  Disclose the number and 
proportion (in percentage terms) 
of executive officers of the issuer, 
including all major subsidiaries of 
the issuer, who are women.

Currently, one (1) of the three (3) Executive Officers is 
a woman (33.3%).

Yes



110 CorPorAte GoVerNANCe

DouG MAttHIeS, PRESIDENT AND CEO

Doug Matthies has served as President 

and CEO of SaskWater since July 1, 2010. 

Prior to joining SaskWater, he served in 

several senior capacities in the provincial 

government including as Deputy 

Minister of Finance, Deputy Minister of 

Agriculture and Food, General Manager 

of the Saskatchewan Crop Insurance 

Corporation and General Manager of the 

Saskatchewan Pension Plan.

Doug has a total of 30 years’ experience 

in the provincial government in several 

areas including strategic planning, policy 

analysis and development, financial 

management, program operations, public 

accountability, legislative and regulatory 

processes, and stakeholder consultations 

and relations. Prior to joining government 

in 1987, he worked in the private-

sector accounting firm of Clarkson 

and Gordon and later the firm Arscott 

Hill & Matonovitch.

Doug has served on several boards 

over the course of his career including 

organizations in the fields of international 

trade, agricultural research, transportation 

and financial institutions. He has also 

been a member of various federal–

provincial working groups, inter-ministry 

working groups and community groups.

Doug is a Chartered Professional 

Accountant (CPA) with a Bachelor of 

Administration (Distinction) degree from 

the University of Regina. 

He has also obtained 

his Chartered Director 

(C.  Dir.) designation from 

the Directors College.

JACQuIe GIbNeY, VICE PRESIDENT, 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES

Jacquie Gibney became Vice President, 

Business Development and Corporate 

Services at SaskWater in September 2014. 

She is responsible for human resources, 

administration and facility services, 

information technology, policy and 

planning, corporate communications, 

OH&S and business development for 

the corporation.

Prior to joining SaskWater, Jacquie 

held several positions with Farm 

Credit Canada including Director 

of Corporate Communications and 

Change Management and Director of 

Strategy and Government Relations. 

She also spent over 20 years with the 

Saskatchewan Ministry of Agriculture in 

a variety of senior capacities including 

Assistant Deputy Minister responsible for 

industry development.

Jacquie has over 27 years of public 

sector experience including agriculture 

finance, policy and program development, 

corporate communications, strategic 

planning, government relations, research 

and business development.

Jacquie has a Bachelor of Science in 

Agriculture degree from the University of 

Saskatchewan and a Master’s degree in 

Business Administration.

erIC LIGHt, VICE PRESIDENT, 

OPERATIONS AND ENGINEERING

In June 2014, Eric Light assumed the 

duties of Vice President, Operations 

and Engineering. He is responsible for 

managing the delivery of SaskWater’s 

core business – the operation, 

maintenance and service delivery for the 

supply of potable and non-potable water 

to communities and industries, and for 

the engineering functions to manage new 

capital projects and support operations. 

Other lines of business falling under 

Eric’s direction include certified operation 

and maintenance of customer-owned 

infrastructure and operator training.

Eric has over 32 years of engineering and 

management experience and has been 

with SaskWater since 1986. His previous 

position was Director of Engineering; a 

role he had held since January 2009.

Eric has a Bachelor of Applied Science 

(Distinction) degree in Regional Systems 

Engineering from the University 

of Regina, as well as his Master of 

Engineering degree in Civil Engineering 

from the University of Saskatchewan. 

He is a member of the Association of 

Professional Engineers and Geoscientists 

of Saskatchewan.

Executive
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Doug Matthies, President and CEO

Danny bollinger, Director, Financial Services

oPerAtIoNS AND eNGINeerING

eric Light, Vice President, Operations and Engineering

John Conway, Director, Engineering

rynette Moore-Guillaume, Director, Operations

kevin Cudmore, Manager, Northern Engineering

buSINeSS DeVeLoPMeNt AND CorPorAte SerVICeS

Jacquie Gibney, Vice President, Business Development and Corporate Services

randy Avery, Director, Business Development

kim Cave, Manager, Centralized Services

Ingrid Newton, Manager, Policy and Planning

Amanda Zarubin, Manager, Human Resources

Courtney Mihalicz, Manager, Corporate Communications

Paul Mayson, Manager, IT Services

Miles Yeroschak, Manager, Occupational Health and Safety

oFFICe LoCAtIoNS

SaskWater Head office

200-111 Fairford Street East 

Moose Jaw, SK S6H 1C8 

(306) 694-3098 

Toll-free: 1-888-230-1111

Prince Albert

800 Central Avenue 

McIntosh Mall 

Prince Albert, SK S6V 6G1

Saskatoon

#5-1925 1st Avenue North 

Saskatoon, SK S7K 6W1

regina

470 Maxwell Crescent 

Regina, SK S4N 6L7



112 CorPorAte GoVerNANCe

saskwater.com
200-111 Fairford Street East 

Moose Jaw, SK S6H 1C8 

Toll-free: 1-888-230-1111 

Inquiry: 306-694-3098


